i Cor PuaLie
on\
Pembroke City Council V \EUD N c‘? L I
10 Do ot Take

March 10, 2025
7:00 P.M.

Call to Order

Invocation — Minister Diana Bing of Little Salem First Christ Holiness Church

Pledge of Allegiance

Adoption of Minutes — February 10, 2025

= ¥ 0w »

Public Comments

=

Approval of Meeting Agenda

G. Consent Agenda
1. Approval of Pembroke 2024 LMIG Bid Package to McLendon Enterprises, Inc. in the
amount of $111,531.00. This project includes mill and overlay for four different locations
throughout the city to include Burkhalter Street from Strickland Street to Mikell Street,
two areas on West Bacon Street and a single location at 310 Camellia Drive.
2. Approval of Pembroke Sewer and Drainage CDBG Bid Package to McLendon Enterprises,
Inc. in the amount of $1,328,622.10.
Approval of Police Auxiliary request to hold Bucket Brigade on Saturday, March 15, 2025.
Approval of the Bryan County Middle High School request to hold a Bucket Brigade on
Saturday, March 22, 2025, from 9am to 12pm.
5. Resolution in Support of Local Legislation to Clarify, Amend and Revise the Charter for

the City of Pembroke.

B w

H. Public Hearings

1. Applicant, Olivia McCumber, is requesting a Home Occupation for an online art business
at 1001 Lumber Drive.

2. The City of Pembroke is proposing changes to the City’s zoning ordinance, including
amendments to Article V, Sections 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4, to allow Day Care Centers and Public
Parks/Playgrounds as residential uses; and Article ITI, Sections 3-4-1 (V)(b) and 3-31 to
correct language related to “Principal Buildings”.

3. The City of Pembroke is proposing changes to the City’s subdivision regulations. Those
include amendments to Article IV, Section 6.1, “Required Improvements”, and Article VII,
Sections 7.1 and 7.2, “Design Standards”.



2|Page

Ordinance Readings
First Readings
Motion to dispense with the reading of the Ordinances to follow.

1. First Reading of an Ordinance to amend the City’s zoning ordinance, including
amendments to Article V, Sections 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4, to allow Day Care Centers, Home
Occupations, and Public Parks/Playgrounds as residential uses; and Article III, Sections 3-
4-1 (V)(b) and 3-31 to correct contradicting language related to “Principal Buildings”.

2. First Reading of an Ordinance to amend the City’s Subdivision Regulations to include
amendments to Article IV, Section 6.1, “Required Improvements”, and Article VII,
Sections 7.1 and 7.2, “Design Standards”.

Second Readings

1. Second Reading and Approval of an Ordinance to amend Article I, Section 4, of Chapter
28 of the Code of Ordinances (Noise) for the City of Pembroke, Georgia.

Action Agenda
1. Approval of a Home Occupation permit for an on-line art business at 1001 Lumber Drive.

2. Approval of a final plat for a 4-lot minor subdivision along Waters Circle, Phase I of

Sawgrass Subdivision.
3. Approval of the development plans for King’s Hollow (King Parcel PUD).

Department Reports

L. Committee Reports

. Executive Session for purposes of discussion of possible real estate acquisition as allowed by

0.C.G.A,, Title 50, Chapter 14.
Possible Acquisition of Real Estate

Adjournment



Page 10of3

PEMBROKE CITY COUNCIL DR Al I

MINUTES
FEBRUARY 10, 2025

The regular meeting of the Pembroke City Council was held on Monday, February 10, 2025, at
City Hall with the following members present: Mayor Tiffany Zeigler, Mayor Pro-Tem Johnnie
Miller, Councilmembers Diane Moore, Sharon Lewis, Emest Hamilton, and Ed Bacon. Also,
present were City Administrator Chris Benson, City Attorney Dana Braun, City Clerk Arlene
Hobbs, and City Engineers Marcus Sack and Logan Irvine.

CALL TO ORDER, INVOCATION AND PLEDGE...Mayor Zeigler called the meeting to
order at 7:00 pm. Pastor Jesse France offered the invocation. Mayor Pro-Tem Miller led the pledge
of allegiance to the flag.

MINUTES... A motion was made by Emest Hamilton and seconded by Johnnie Miller to approve
the minutes of the January 13, 2025; regular council meeting as presented. The motion carried
unanimously.

PUBLIC COMMENTS...None

PROCLAMATION...A proclamation recognizing the month of February 2025 as Black History
Month was read by Mayor Zeigler.

RESOLUTION - To enter into Contract with Goodwyn Mills Cawood for services related
Disaster Relief Assistance related to filing applications with FEMA for reimbursement
related to Hurricane Helene...City Administrator Benson gave a brief overview of the
resolution. A motion to approve was made by Diane Moore and seconded by Ed Bacon. The

motion passed unanimously.

APPROVAL OF MEETING AGENDA...A motion to approve the meeting agenda as presented
was made by Johnnie Miller, seconded by Diane Moore. The motion carried unanimously.

CONSENT AGENDA...A motion to approve the consent agenda was made by Johnnie Miller,
seconded by Sharon Lewis. The motion carried unanimously.

1. 2025 Budget Amendment
2. Request to surplus damaged pole barn materials for destruction and/or salvage

3. Approval of GMC Contract for Public Assistance for Disaster Relief

PUBLIC HEARINGS...None



Page 10f 3

PEMBROKE CITY COUNCIL
MINUTES
FEBRUARY 10, 2025

The regular meeting of the Pembroke City Council was held on Monday, February 10, 2025, at
City Hall with the following members present: Mayor Tiffany Zeigler, Mayor Pro-Tem Johnnie
Miller, Councilmembers Diane Moore, Sharon Lewis, Ernest Hamilton, and Ed Bacon. Also,
present were City Administrator Chris Benson, City Attorney Dana Braun, City Clerk Arlene
Hobbs, and City Engineers Marcus Sack and Logan Irvine.

CALL TO ORDER, INVOCATION AND PLEDGE...Mayor Zeigler called the meeting to
order at 7:00 pm. Pastor Jesse France offered the invocation. Mayor Pro-Tem Miller led the pledge
of allegiance to the flag.

MINUTES... A motion was made by Emest Hamilton and seconded by Johnnie Miller to approve
the minutes of the January 13, 2025; regular council meeting as presented. The motion carried
unanimously.

PUBLIC COMMENTS...None

PROCLAMATION...A proclamation recognizing the month of February 2025 as Black History
Month was read by Mayor Zeigler.

RESOLUTION — To enter into Contract with Goodwyn Mills Cawood for services related
Disaster Relief Assistance related to filing applications with FEMA for reimbursement
related to Hurricane Helene...City Administrator Benson gave a brief overview of the
resolution. A motion to approve was made by Diane Moore and seconded by Ed Bacon. The

motion passed unanimously.

APPROVAL OF MEETING AGENDA...A motion to approve the meeting agenda as presented
was made by Johnnie Miller, seconded by Diane Moore. The motion carried unanimously.

CONSENT AGENDA...A motion to approve the consent agenda was made by Johnnie Miller,
seconded by Sharon Lewis. The motion carried unanimously.

1. 2025 Budget Amendment
2. Request to surplus damaged pole barn materials for destruction and/or salvage

3. Approval of GMC Contract for Public Assistance for Disaster Relief

PUBLIC HEARINGS...None



Page 2 0f 3

ORDINANCE READINGS

First Readings

1. Noise Ordinance...Chris Benson went over the proposed changes to the Noise
Ordinance verbiage.

ACTION AGENDA...None

DEPARTMENT REPORTS...

Police — Chief Collins reported that the department is still short two positions, however,
interviews are being conducted. Officer Wilcher, our newest hire, is doing well. FEMA has
performed on-site inspections, and we are awaiting reimbursement for TS Debby and
Hurricane Helene. He has not yet met the new Bryan County EMD but plans to soon.

Fire — Fire Chief Peter Waters reported that there were 45 calls in January. He also reported
that the department passed the annual State Inspection.

Street — Dalton Cook reported on the work being done to the community center to freshen
the appearance by adding chair rail and bead board which will protect the walls. The

department is also working to catch up on work orders.

City Administrator — Chris talked about the possibility of extending the zoning
moratorium until the code review is completed.

DDA — Fernanda reported on the next upcoming Coffee & Conversation and Let’s Discuss
meetings offered to the community with Mayor Zeigler and City Administrator Benson.
She also had the opportunity to lead our Youth Council on the walking history tour.

City Attorney — nothing to report. He will find out if the moratorium can be extended
and report back to Chris.

City Clerk — nothing to report.

P&Z — Derek reported that the moratorium will be over on April 14", He also reported on
a housing study being done with Georgia Tech which will include a code review and
housing policies. The final report should be out in October this year. We should also see
development plans for two of the PUDs in the next two months.



Page 3 of 3

COMMITTEE REPORTS - nothing to report.

EXECUTIVE SESSION... A motion to enter executive session at 7:39 pm was made by
Johnnie Miller, seconded by Ed Bacon. The motion passed unanimously. A motion to close
executive session at 7:56 was made by Johnnie Miller, seconded by Diane Moore. The motion

passed unanimously.

ADJOURNMENT...There being nothing further to discuss, at 8:00pm a motion to adjourn the
meeting was made by Diane Moore, seconded by Sharon Lewis. The motion passed

unanimously.

ATTEST:

Arlene Hobbs, City Clerk Tiffany M. Zeigler, Mayor



<

e [ 1

“MLE. SACK

~_ 80

ENGINEERING

February 18, 2025

The Honorable Tiffany Zeigler
Mayor of City of Pembroke
P.O. Box 130

Pembroke, GA 31321

CC: Chris Benson, City Administrator
RE: Pembroke 2024 LMIG

For City of Pembroke
MES #2024-15

Dear Mayor Zeigler,

M.E. Sack Engineering (MES) received four bids for the referenced project on
February 12, 2025. Please find attached the Bid Tabulation and corresponding bid
packages from McLendon Enterprises Inc., Platinum Paving & Concrete LLC, Sikes
Brothers Inc., and Griffin Contracting, Inc.

MES recommends that the project be given to the lowest responsible bidder,

McLendon Enterprises Inc.

Should you have any questions, comments, or desire further information, please

contact me.

Sincerely,
M.E. Sack Engineering

Marcus Sack, PE
President

MES/sjw/Job #2024-15

Enclosures

515 N. Main Street | Hinesville, GA 31313 9
PO Box 649 | Hinesville, GA 31310 %

912.368.5212 S

www.mesack.com
ME Sack Engineering f
@mesackengineering

mesack N



ot | CERTIFY THAT THIS TABULATION IS A TRUE

AE SACK REPRESENTATION OF THE BIDS RECEIVED ON
e — FEBRUARY 12, 2025.
ENGINEERING

80

Pembroke 2024 LMIG
for City of Pembroke
MES No. 2024-15

Platinum Paving & Concrete

McClendon Enterprises, Inc. LLC. Slkes Brothers Inc. Griffin Contracting, Inc.

Bid Ite Qua De ptio Price 0 P o Price o p o

1 1 EA |Drainage Structure Removal $1,385.00|% 1,385.00 |$ 900.00 | ¢ 900.00 $ 5000005 500000 |5 3719.00|% 3,719.00

2 1 LS |Shoulder Scraping - § 272.00 - 1,000.00 - 5,500.00 - b 4,527.00

3 1 LS |Pavement Milling B 13,214.00 - b 32,500.00 - 25,000.00 - b 51,237.00

4 187 TN [1.5" 8.5mm Asphalt $ 149.00|$ 27,863.00 146.00 | §  27,302.00 b 235.00 | § 43,945.00 | § 273.00 | § 51,051.00

5 56 TN |2" Ashpaltic Concrete Pavement $ 208.00|% 16,688.00 247.00 | $ 13,832.00 ] 235.00 | § 13,160.00 | § 329.50 | § 18,452.00

6 125 TN |3/4" to 1" Crack Relief Interlayer $ 170.00|§ 21,250.00 157.00 | $ 19,626.00 5 400.00 50,000.00 |$ 27800 | $ 34,750.00

i7. 22 LF |24" Stop Bar $ 28.00]8 616.00 14.00 | § 308.00 $ 20.00 | ¢ 440.00 | $ 3360 8% 739.20

8 892 LF |Double Solid Yellow Line Striping $ 3.50 | § 3,122.00 b 1.00 | § 892.00 $ 3.00 2,676.00 |$ 290 | $  2,586.80

9 4 EA |Adjustment of Water Valve Box Top $ 154.00 ] ¢ 616.00 b 650,00 | § 2,600.00 $ 500.00 2,00000 |§ 939.00 | § 3,756.00

10 1 EA  |Replacement of Drainage Grate $219500(% 2,195.00 5 900.00 | § 900.00 $ 7,500.00| % 7,50000 [$ 7,260.00 | § 7,260.00

11 1 LS _|Shoulder Backing (Fill Material Placement) - b 577.00 - B 3,100.00 - ] 10,000.00 = b 1,308.00

12 1 LS |Grassing - 4,395.00 . $ 760.00 - $ 5,000.00 = $  4,950.00

13 1 LS |Traffic Control - b 13,474.00 - $ 8,000.00 = $ 20,000.00 - $ 25,075.00

14 1 LS i 5,864.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 28,904.00

X = TOTAL BID $ 111,531.00 $ 116;719.00 $  195221.00 $ 236,315.00
*Indicates mathematical error, different from original bid N




0 Descrip on: This project includes mill & overlay for 4 different loca ons throughout the
city. The largest por on is the stretch of Burkhalter Street from Strickland to Mikell. The
other 3 loca ons include the two areas on W Bacon Street and the single loca on at 310
Camelia Drive where waterline leaks were repaired. GDOT allows us to use LMIG/LRA
funding to perform the required pavement repairs at these loca ons, and for that reason
we have included these loca ons in this year’s project.

o 2025 LMIG Formula Amount (+30% Match) = $63,113.024

o 2024 LRA Formula Amount (+0% Match) = $58,556.16

o Total Project Cost Es mate = $350,000.00

o 1/13/2025: The bid adver sement has been published with a bid opening date

set for Wednesday, February 12w.
o 2/10/2025: The bid opening will be held this Wednesday, 2/12/2025 @ 10:30.



<

ME.

515 N. Main Street | Hinesville, GA 31313 9
PO Box 649 | Hinesville, GA 31310 m

AC K 912.368.5212@

La S B iE www.mesack.com

ENGINEERING ME Sack Engineering T

80

@mesackengineering
mesack 1N

February 20, 2025

The Honorable Tiffany Zeigler
Mayor of City of Pembroke
P.O. Box 130

Pembroke, GA 31321

CC: Chris Benson, City Administrator

RE: Pembroke Sewer and Drainage CDBG
For City of Pembroke
MES #2022-15

Dear Mayor Zeigler,

M.E. Sack Engineering (MES) received one bid for the referenced project on February
18, 2025. Please find attached the Bid Tabulation and corresponding bid package

from McLendon Enterprises Inc.

MES recommends that the project be given to the lowest responsible bidder,
McLendon Enterprises Inc.

Should you have any questions, comments, or desire further information, please
contact me.

Sincerely,
M.E. Sack Engineering

Marcus gack, PE

President

MES/sjw/Job #2022-15

Enclosures



a

 ENGINEERING
]

AMLE. SACK

| CERTIFY THAT THIS TABULATION IS A
TRUE REPRESENTATION OF THE BIDS
RECEIVED ON FEBRUARY 18, 2025.

Sewer and Drainage CDBG
for City of Pembroke
MES No. 2022-15

Bid Item Quantity Units Description
=T P g 'A. DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS

1 1 Clearing & Grubbing - $  19,579.03
2 1 Fill & Grading - $ 238,860.98
3 1 LS |Structure Relocation - $ 30,248.12
4 1 LS |Traffic Control - $ 184,973.57
5 1 LS |Erosion Control - $ 48,617.00
6 1 LS [Right-of-Way Grassing - $ 10,210.00
7 1 LS |Demolition - $ 3,499.00
8 6,871 SY |Asphalt Pavement Removal $ 2.00 | $ 13,742.00
9 6,871 SY |Aggregate Base Removal $ 200 (% 13,742.00
10 4,654 LF |Rolled 24" Concrete Curb & Gutter $ 2250 $ 104,715.00
11 6,037 | SY |1.5"9.5mm SuperPave $ 950 | $ 65,901.50
12 6,937 SY |6" Graded Aggregate Base $ 21.00 [ $ 145,677.00
13 1 LS |Feather Asphalt Paving @ Intersection - $ 3,076.00
14 148 SY |4” Concrete Apron w/Smooth Rock Transition $ 111.00 | § 16,428.00
15 370 SY |Gravel Driveway Replacement $ 2550 | $ 9,435.00
16 4 EA |Speed Bump Removal and Reinstallation $ 140.00 | $ 560.00
17 22 LF |[24" Paint & Bead Stop Bar $ 10.00 | $ 220.00
18 2,010 LF [4" Paint & Bead Double Solid Yellow Line Striping $ 1.00 | $ 2,010.00
19 53 LF |4" Paint & Bead Double Dashed Yellow Line Striping $ 1.00 | $ 53.00
20 177 LF |Culvert Pipe Removal $ 4300 $ 7.611.00
21 9 EA |Precast Rolled Curb Inlet Structures $ 5,279.00| $ 47,511.00
22 4 EA |Grated Inlets $ 4,610.00 | $ 18,440.00
23 2 EA |Junction Box $ 4,708.00 | $ 9,416.00
24 1 LF |Headwall — L Shaped $ 283100 % 2,831.00
25 150 EA |French Underdrain - 6" $ 4450 $ 6,675.00
26 1 EA |[15" Flared End Section $ 604.00 | $ 604.00
27 1 EA |12" Flared End Section $ 604.00 | $§ 604.00
28 617 LF {18" HDPE $ 4150 | % 25,605.50
29 79 LF [15" HDPE $ 68.50 | § 5,411.50
30 204 LF (12" HDPE $ 3450 $ 7.038.00
3. S RINMPRO

31 1 LS |Connection to Existing Sewer System - $ 8,833.00
32 2,234 LF |8" Sanitary Sewer Line $ 4750 $ 106,115.00
33 8 EA |[Manhole $ 4,638.00 $ 37,104.00
34 1 LS |Tie into Existing Wet Well - $ 12,833.00
35 21 EA |Reconnect Sanitary Sewer Service Laterals to New Sewer Line $ 1,409.00 | $ 29,589.00




=1

“ME. SACK.

ENGINEERING
80

il W1l PR 8. SEWER IMPROVEMENTS CONT'D

*Indicates mathematical error, different from original bid

TOTALBID

Sanitary Sewer Laterals and Extension to House Service Connection $ 2467.00| § 4,934.00

37 1,484 | LF _[Cut, Fill, & Remove Existing Sewer Line $ 710§ 10,536.40
38 2 EA |Demolish & Remove Existing Sewer Manhole $ 1,754.00 | § 3,508.00
39 612 LF |Fill and Abandon Sewer Line $ 1450 $ 8,874.00
40 2 EA |Abandon Private Pump Stations $ 3,425.00| $ 6,850.00
41 75 LF [Cut, Fill, & Remove Water Line $ 2350 $ 1,762.50
42 70 LF |8" Water Line Relocation $ 7850 | $ 5,495.00
43 1 EA |[Gate Valve $ 3,878.00| $ 3,878.00
44 1 TN _|Fittings $ 8,997.00 | § 8,997.00
45 2 EA |Connect to Existing 8" Water Line $ 7,885.00 | $ 15,770.00
1 Mobilization (5% Max - $  20,249.00_

pomle = - 1IN $  1,328,622.10




Arlene Hobbs

From: Katie Jones <algainc@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2025 4:05 PM

To: Arlene Hobbs

Cc: Chris Benson

Subject: Pembroke 23p-6352 CDBG "Sole Source” Construction Bid

Attachments: Pembroke Attorney letter for Sole Source.docx; Pembroke Sole Source City Letter.docx
Follow Up Flag: Foliow up

Flag Status: Flagged

Ms. Arlene,

It is my understanding that the City of Pembroke only had one bidder at the CDBG bid opening held
February 18, 2025. DCA approval of the advertising and bidding process must be approved. Please find
attached sample sole source letters for the city and city attorney’s use in requesting DCA’s approval.
After completing the letters please email them to me and | will email the letters and documentation to

DCA.

After engineering recommendation is received, please place the award of contract on the March 10" city
council meeting agenda.

Thanks.
Katie Jones



Arlene Hobbs

=== =E=Ssm=——m—en == i ———
From: Avery Gallups <agallups@®bryan.k12.ga.us>
Sent: Thursday, February 20, 2025 10:59 AM
To: Arlene Hobbs
Subject: Bryan County Band Bucket Brigade

Good morning,

The Bryan County Band Boosters would like to request permission to hold a bucket brigade at the red
light in Pembroke on March 22nd with a backup rain date of Aprilt 19th.

Please let me know if we have permission to host the event on these dates.

Thank you so much!

BRYAM COUNTY MIDDLE HIGH SCHOOL

AVERY GALLUPS

Director of Bonds
Conasections Departrant sead

- ooolupsgbryansiigaus

9 1234 Corrwtlior Dy
Pernavowe. GA& 334

§,  Bz-a2-gi9s




Arlene Hobbs
= — rr—

From: Secretary Booster <secretary.bchsbb@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, February 21, 2025 8:10 AM

To: Arlene Hobbs

Subject: BCHS Band Bucket Brigade

Hello Mrs. Hobbs,

My name is Jen Parker. | am an officer with the BCHS Band Boosters. | am reaching out in hopes of securing a date
for the band to host a bucket brigade as we have done in the past. The dates that we are submitting are March

22nd or Apl'll 19th We would like the time window of 9am to 12pm if possible. Please let us know if one
of these dates are available. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely ,
BCHS Band Boosters.

Thank you,
BCH Band Boosters Secretary

email: secretary.bchsbb@gmail.com

Booster Remind: https://www.remind.com/join/@btreas

Web Site: Band



RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF LOCAL LEGISLATION
TO
CLARIFY, AMEND AND REVISE THE
CHARTER

WHEREAS, Representative Lehman Franklin intends to introduce the attached Bill in the
General Assembly of the State of Georgia for the purposes of clarifying, amending and revising
Section 4 of the Charter for the City of Pembroke;

WHEREAS, in the attached Bill will clarify that the terms of office of the mayor and the
five city council members are four years; and

WHEREAS, said clarification is needed.

BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Pembroke does
hereby unanimously support and approve of the attached Bill and urge State Senator Ben Watson
and State Representative to fully support said Bill and do everything in their power to gain passage.

Unanimously adopted this 10% day of March, 2025.

CITY OF PEMBROKE

(SEAL) By:
Tiffany Zeigler, Mayor

Attest:

Arlene Hobbs, Clerk of City Council



CLERK’S CERTIFICATE

The undersigned Clerk of the Council, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing three
pages of typewritten matter pertaining to a Bill to clarify, amend and revise the Charter of the City
of Pembroke constitute a true and correct copy of the Resolution adopted on March 10, 2025 by
the Mayor and Council in a regular meeting, which was open to the public, and the original of said
Resolution appears of record in the minute book of the Mayor and Council which is in my custody

and control.

WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Pembroke, Georgia this____ day of
March, 2025.

By:

Arlene Hobbs, Clerk of Council

(SEAL)

4896-2753-6931.1



Georgia Department of Revenue
Department of Revenue Alcohol License Application

DOR Alcohol License Application

Business Information
Business Name: NOURIA ENERGY RETAIL, INC.

Business Type: Corporation

Address Information
Location Address: 649 W BARNARD ST GLENNVILLE GA 30427-1905

Alcohol License Information
License Type: Retail

Start Date: 02-05-2025
Beer: Yes

Wine: Yes

Liquor: No

Airline or Railway Carrier: No
Local Jurisdiction Type: City
Local Jurisdiction: PEMBROKE

Arrest History: No

Local License / Fees Fee Amount
Alcohol License Application Package Sales $75.00
Off Premise Beer and Wine

Alcohol License Application Package Sales $250.00
Off Premise Distilled Spirits

Alcohol License Application Pouring On $125.00
Premise Beer and Wine

Alcohol License Application Pouring On $200.00
Premise Distilled Spirits

Beer Retail Package License Off Premise $500.00
Wine Retail Package License Off Premise $500.00
Beer Pouring License On Premise $750.00
Wine Pouring License On Premise $750.00
Distilled Spirits Pouring License On $1,000.00
Premise

Sunday Sales Permit On Premise $250.00
Distilled Spirits Retail Package License Off $1,000.00
Premise

$5,400.00



Georgia Department of Revenue

Department of Revenue Aicohol License Application

DOR Alcohol License Application

Licensee Information
Licensee Type: Business
Licensee Name: EL-NEMR, TONY

Additional Information
Primary NAICS: 445131

Officers Officer or Responsible Party
EL-NEMR, TONY Both




1108P6ABPE0Z-2604-2 7S r-9ZPZ-4Z8F006 L/S|IEISp-IUE0||dde/00 /A0 ODOIUBPY S8.80 ED//:SaRY

- -~ 3JAIH Vvivd 35NOdS3d

Lio 1L a g :oBed 1ad smoy

Nt

§20z/8¢/c0 UH ON Vin3adaidvo

T a3e osuodsay Sidv

S11Ns3d ST1ivi3d

odg JOT10D HIvH M 3DVH  6%L6L0S9Z6 NDL
sq|
50T {sg@1) LHDIIM X1 g0d V/N  ADNIDOV ONILSINDIY ‘
90,5 (NI/L4) LHDIFHL961/8Z/LL a0d ZswIgSZevD ADNIDV DONIMIIATY
puUNOS pJo2aY
W H3AaN3o /N NSS ON-uoiesipnlpy-oiny SNLVLS

Zoanblipoy oliled

zanBlipoy Mouled / Alewiwins uoloesuel |

HY S3dvO

S3HVO Wd 122 'seree/z



City of Pembroke
CASH RECEIPT

Receipt No: 261067
Date: 2/24/2025
Time: 4:05:35PM
For: ALC BEV LIC APPLICATION
Received From: NOURIA ENERGY

75.00

203 E BACON ST

Check 75.00
Total 75.00
Received 75.00
Change: 0.00

Received By: LAWQUINA



Planning & Zoning Inputs
March 10 City Council Meeting

Public Hearings

1. Applicant, Olivia McCumber, is requesting a Home Occupation for an online
art business at 1001 Lumber Dr.

2. The City of Pembroke is proposing changes to the City’s zoning ordinance,
including amendments to Article V, Sections 5-2, 5-3, & 5-4, to allow Day
Care Centers and Public Parks/Playgrounds as residential uses; and Article
I, Sections 3-4-1 (V)(b) & 3-31 to correct contradicting language related to
“Principal Buildings”.

3. The City of Pembroke is proposing changes to the City’s subdivision
regulations. Those include amendments to Article IV, Section 6.1, “Required
Improvements”, and Article VI, Sections 7.1 & 7.2, “Design Standards”.

Ordinance (First Reading)

Motion to dispense with the reading of the Ordinances to follow.

1. First reading of amendments to the City’s zoning ordinance, including
amendments to Article V, Sections 5-2, 5-3, & 5-4, to allow Day Care
Centers, Home Occupations, and Public Parks/Playgrounds as residential
uses; and Article lll, Sections 3-4-1 (V)(b) & 3-31 to correct contradicting
language related to “Principal Buildings”.

2. First reading of amendments to the City’s Subdivision Regulations. Those
include amendments to Article IV, Section 6.1, “Required Improvements”,
and Article VII, Sections 7.1 & 7.2, “Design Standards”.

Action Agenda

1. Approval of a Home Occupation permit for an on-line art business at 1001
Lumber Dr.



2. Approval of a final plat for a 4-lot minor subdivision along Waters Circle,

Phase 1 of Sawgrass Subdivision.
3. Approval of the development plans for King’s Hollow (King Parcel PUD).



Pembroke Planning Commission
Minutes
February 27, 2025

The regular meeting of the Pembroke Planning Commission was held on Thursday, February 27,
2025, at City Hall with the following members present: Chair Charlotte Bacon, commission
members Van Redcross, and Shalah Beckworth. Also, present was Community Development

Director Derek Cathcart.

Call to Order...Chair Bacon called the meeting to order at 7:00pm and read the information
regarding public comment and meeting decorum.

Minutes... A motion was made by Shalah Beckworth and seconded by Van Redcross to approve
the minutes of January 16, 2025; regular commission meeting as presented. The motion carried

unanimously.

Public Hearings

1. Applicant, Olivia McCumber, is requesting a Home Occupation for an
online art business at 1001 Lumber Dr.

Olivia McCumber described her business as an online art business. Selling art online, or at

events in Savannah. She plans to use space in the apartment to make art. She previously

held a business license in Bryan County to operate the same business.

Chair Bacon asked if there would be any customers at the house, and the applicant said no.

Ron Kinder asked where the home occupation was located. Applicant stated the address is

1001 Lumber Dr, located in Sawmill Landings.

2. The City of Pembroke is proposing changes to the City’s zoning ordinance,
including amendments to Article V, Sections 5-2, 5-3, & 5-4, to allow Day
Care Centers and Public Parks/Playgrounds as residential uses; and Article
Ill, Sections 3-4-1 (V)(b) & 3-31 to correct contradicting language related
to “Principal Buildings”.

Derek Cathcart gave a brief presentation of the proposed text amendments. No further

questions.

3. The City of Pembroke is proposing changes to the City’s subdivision
regulations. Those include amendments to Article IV, Section 6.1,
“Required Improvements”, and Article VII, Sections 7.1 & 7.2, “Design
Standards”.

Randy Dykes, representing ME Sack, gave a brief presentation of the proposed subdivision

regulation text amendments. No further questions.



Action Agenda

1.

Recommendation to city council regarding a request to operate a Home
Occupation for an online art business at 1001 Lumber Dr.

A motion to recommend approval to City Council was made by Shalah Beckworth,
seconded by Van Redcross. The motion passed unanimously.

Recommendation to city council regarding changes to the City’s
Subdivision Regulations. Those include amendments to Article IV, Section
6.1, “Required Improvements”, and Article VII, Sections 7.1 & 7.2, “Design
Standards”.

A motion to recommend approval to City Council was made by Shalah Beckworth,
seconded by Van Redcross. The motion passed unanimously.

Recommendation to city council regarding changes to the City’s zoning,
including amendments to Article V, Sections 5-2, 5-3, & 5-4, to allow Day
Care Centers and Public Parks/Playgrounds as residential uses; and Article
11, Sections 3-4-1 (V)(b) & 3-31 to correct contradicting language related
to “Principal Buildings”.

A motion to recommend approval to City Council was made by Shalah Beckworth,
seconded by Van Redcross. The motion passed unanimously.

Recommendation to city council regarding a final plat for a 4-lot minor
subdivision along Waters Circle, Phase 1 of Sawgrass Subdivision.

A motion to recommend approval to City Council was made by Van Redcross, seconded
by Shalah Beckworth. The motion passed unanimously.

Recommendation to city council regarding development plans for King'’s
Hollow (King Parcel PUD).

A motion to recommend approval to City Council was made by Van Redcross, seconded
by Shalah Beckworth. The motion passed unanimously.

Adjournment...There being nothing further to discuss, at 7:10pm a motion to adjourn was
made by Shalah Beckworth, seconded by Van Redcross. The motion passed unanimously.

ATTEST:

Derek Cathcart Charlotte Bacon
Community Development Director Planning & Zoning Commission Chair



This report is prepared by the City of Pembroke Department of Development staff to provide
information to the Pembroke Planning Commission for assistance in making an informed decision

on this matter.

Applicant: Olivia Mccumber (Tenant)

Request: Home Occupation

Il MEETINGS:
Planning Commission: Public Hearing February 20, 2025
City Council: Public Hearing & Final Vote March 10, 2025

1. IDENTIFICATION AND LOCATIONAL INFORMATION:
Existing Zoning: R-3
Proposed Use: Residential. Home occupation is for online business.

Owner/Agent: Olivia Mccumber (Tenant)

Location of Property: 1001 Lumber Dr. Harry Hagan Rd. Pembroke, GA 31321.
Election Ward: District 1, Johnnie Miller Sr.

Zoning of Surrounding Property: R-1

Hi. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

The City has received a Home Occupation request submitted by Olivia Mccumber for an online art
business at 1001 Lumber Dr. The proposed home occupation consists of the following:

“| am a freelance artist/ illustrator. | use a home office exclusively for my art business. dba Olivia
Beaumont / OliviaBeaumont.com. | have held home office permits in Bryan and Effingham County”




. SUBJECT PROPERTY:

The property is located at 1001 Lumber Drive, in the Sawmill Landing apartments located off
Surrency St. 20% of the home will be occupied by the business, and no customers are expected on

premises.

V. APPLICABLE CODE SECTIONS:

Article 1l - (46). Home Occupations. A profession, vocation, business or trade conducted in a
residential district as a secondary use in a dwelling unit. The occupation should be conducted by
family members living in the home. Traffic generated by the occupation should not become a

nuisance to neighbors. (See Section 313.)
Article lll. Section 3-13. Home Occupations

Home occupations including any profession, vocation, business, trade, and personal services may
be conducted in any residentiat district. Home occupations, with the exception of commercial
stables or kennels and any occupation which customarily requires the use of a panel or delivery
truck, may be conducted in a residential district only after approvat of the city council which shall
hold a public hearing as set forth in Article VII Section 3 of this ordinance. The city council may then
deny or grant approval of such home occupation in accordance with such regulations as the city
council may determine to be in the public interest and also in accordance with the Zoning
Regulations. The following rules apply to allhome occupations:

(1) The home occupation shall be conducted within the principal building or in an existing
accessory building that must meet existing building codes, lot coverage and environmental
standards and only by members of the family residing in the building. No more than one person who
is not a resident of the premises shall be employed. Home Occupation to be conducted within the

rental unit, and the only employee is the tenant.

(2) Not more than 20 percent of the gross floor area of any dwelling unit may be used for a home
occupation, except for medical and dental offices and foster family care, which may use up to 40

percent. Home occupation will occupy 20% of household.

(3) For the purpose of identification of such use, one (1) non-illuminated wall sign not exceeding
one (1) square foot in area may be permitted. Such signs shall identify only the name of the
profession and the name of the occupant of the premises and shall be mounted against a wall of

the principal building. N/A

(4) No motor power other than electrically operated motors shall be used in conjunction with such
home occupation and the total horsepower of such permitted electrical motors shall not exceed
three (3) horsepower. N/A

(5) There shall be no alteration in the residential character of the premises in connection with such
home occupation unless so authorized by the city council. No exterior alterations are proposed.



(6) No merchandise or articles for sale shall be displayed for advertising purposes and no sign or
device relative to the sale of such merchandise shall be displayed on the premises. N/A

(7) No article or materials used in connection with such home occupation shall be stored other
than in the principal building so used. N/A

(8) Any home occupation as provided for in this section may be reviewed by the city council at any
time after twelve (12) months following the approval of such use and may revoke permission to
continue such home occupation at any time thereafter.

{9) There shall be no disturbance or offensive noise, vibration, smoke, dust, odor, heat, glare, traffic
hazard, unhealthy or unsightly condition. N/A

VL. STAFF ANAYLSIS:

The proposed home occupation aligns with the general standards for approval of home
occupations as outlined by the Pembroke Zoning Ordinance, specifically section 3-13. The Home
Occupation proposes occupying 20% of the residence and will consist of an online art business. No
customers are expected, and any sales will be online or at off-site market events. The R-3 zoning
district does not list home occupations as a conditional use, however the home occupation
ordinance, Section 3-13, states that home occupations are permitted in ALL residential districts.
The applicant has secured similar permits in neighboring localities for the proposed business. The
applicant has provided a signed and notarized letter granting permission to operate the business

from the property manager of Sawmill Landings.

Vil. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

As a result, Staff reccommends to approve the Home Occupation at 1001 Lumber Dr for Olivia
Mccumber for an online art business.

Vill. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:

in accordance with Article X, Section 10-3 (a.), of the Pembroke Zoning Ordinance, the Planning
Commission recommends that City Council approve the Home Occupation at 1001 Lumber Dr.



Entry #: 19 - Olivia McCumber Status: Submitted Submitted: 1/14/2025 1:43 PM

Application for Rezoning, Variance, Home Occupation or
Conditional Use

Phone: 912-653-4413 Fax: 912-653-4424

For Office Use Only

Date Received:
1/14/2025

Payment Received: Parcel Number:

Yes

Current Zoning: Requested Zoning/Variance:

R-3 Home Occupation

PC Hearing: PC Recommendation:

2/20/25

CC Hearing Date: CC Action:

3/10/2025

First Reading: Second Reading:

INSTRUCTIONS:

1. Please complete this form in its entirety.

2 Attach additional sheets if needed with section number and letter indicated. If a section does not apply, indicate by "N/A".

3. Incomplete submittal may result in delay of processing.

4. Provide requested information for any adjacent property unde

5. All property owners must sign this form. Agents may only sign
signed by the owner accompanies the application.

6. Application must be accompanied by 2 scaled map or plat s
adjoining lots or parcels of land which are also under the same ownership.

7. Refer to the Bryan County Tax Assessor's website (gpublic.net/bryan) for additional information.

r the same ownership in this application.
for a property owner if authorized by a notarized letter

howing the property referred to in this application and all

1. Action Requested (Check all that applies):

Home Occupation
2. Owner and Agent Information:

a. Owner(s) of Record:



Phone:
(912) 944-5105

Name:
Olivia McCumber

Mailing Address: Physical Address:

1001 Lumber Dr, Pembroke, Georgia 31321 1001 Lumber Dr, Pembroke, Georgia 31321
Do(es) the owner(s) own any adjacent properties? List Parcel Numbers:

No

The following may be left blank if the applicant is the same as the property owner.

b. Name of Applicant/Agent:

Company Name: Phone Number:
JES Holdings (573) 443-2021
Mailing Address: Physical Address:
206 Peach Way, Columbia, Georgia 65203 Georgia

c. Name of Professional Contractor(s) (Architect, Engineer, Surveyor, Developer)

Phone Number:

Company Name:

Mailing Address: Physical Address:

Georgia Georgia

3. Property Information — Current

a. Property Parcel Number: b. Total Acreage of Property:
c. Acreage proposed for rezoning: d. Street address of Property:

e. Location of property:

f, Current Zoning: Current Land Use:

g. Lot Characteristics (wooded, field, developed, etc.)

h. Are there any structures currently on the property?

No



i. Contiguous land uses: South East West

North

j. Current Access (roads):

k. Existing utilities:

. Please list any rezonings, subdivisions, variances, or other actions for reclassification on all or part of the listed property

Action Date

m. Legal description of property by lot, block, and subdivision designations, or if none, by metes and bounds:

4. Property Information - Proposed:
a. Proposed Zoning: Proposed Use:

b. Proposed water: proposed sewer:

c. Do you plan to sub-divide the property? if so, please answer the following:

No

Proposed number of lots Proposed improvements {roads, water system, etc.)

Proposed access:

d. Justification of rezoning:

Note: APPLICANTS SHOULD SUBMIT A SKETCH PLAN WITH THE REZONING APPLICATION

5. Proposed Variance: (if applicable)



a. List the section of the City Zoning Ordinance from which you need a variance (refer to the City of Pembroke Website
or staff can assist with this information)

b. Please describe the variance you are requesting.
c. Please describe why you believe this variance is justified.

(Hardship: The difficulty or impossibility of the use of a lot or parcel created by the zoning ordinance. Hardship is concerned
with land use, not the personal problems or situation of the owner of the land.)

Note: Jf requesting_a Variance. this application must be accompanied by a site plan and/or architectural renderings of proposed
development depicting the location of lot restrictions and a survey of the property signed and stamped by a State of Georgia

Certified Land Surveyor.
6. Adjacent Property Owners:

Provide names, mailing addresses, and zip codes of all property owners adjacent to and across any public right of way, including
properties diagonally across an intersection and/or within 250 feet of the property proposed for rezoning or a variance. Provide

all names in one list.

Property Owners
Item 1
Name Address
JES Holdings 206 Peach Way, Columbia, Missouri 65203

7. Certifications:

a. Have you given contributions that aggregated $250.00 or more within two years immediately preceding the filing of
this application to a candidate that will hear the proposed application?

Untitled If answered “Yes,” please attach a explanation

No

b. Do any of the property owners of this property own any of the adjoining properties?
No

c. | (We), the undersigned, do herby certify that | (we), am (are) the owners of the property Date
affected by this proposed amendment to the City of Pembroke Zoning Ordinance by virtue

of a deed dated



on file in the office of the Clerk of the Superior Court of Bryan County, in Deed Deed Book
Book

Further, | (we) attest that the information contained herein is true and complete to the best of

page page
my (our) knowledge.

Owner’s Signature:

Item 1

Signature Date
1/14/2025



This Agreement Is made and entered intc on this 21st dayof _J3Wary o9 25, by and between:

Apartment Owner. JES Holdings, LLC, 206 Peach Way, Columbia, MO 65203 (573) 443-2021
Property Address: 1001 Lumber Dr., Pembroke, GA 31321

Business Owner: Olivia McCumber, operating under the DBA Olivia Beaumont

Purpose: The purpose of this Agreement is to grant permission for the Business Owner to operate an
online art business under the DBA Olivia Beaumont from a home office located within the rented

apartment at the above-stated property.

Terms and Conditions:
1. The Business Owner agrees to operate the business in compl

obtaining any required permits or icenses.
2. The operation of the business shall not cause disruption to the peace and quist enjoyment of other tenants within the property.

3. The Business Owner agrees that no signage related to the business wilt be dispiayed on the exterior of the proparty without prior

llance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, including

written congent.
4. This Agreement does not after the terms of the rentallease agreement, and the Business Owner shall remain in compiiance with
all rentallease obligations. .
5. The Apartment Manager grants permission for the Business Owner to operate the business described hereln, subject to the terms
of this Agreement.
Acknowledgment:
By signing below, the parties acknowledge their agreement to the terms outlined in this document.
Signatures:
T ool
Apartment M rName: /AmMara_ williom.t
Signature: z al e ——

Date: l/ 1,28"

Business Owner Name: Olivia McCumber
Signature: Wt
Date:  01/21/2025 .

lic:
NotaryofPub ic Florida
County of Broward

Onthis 215t day of January  20_ 25, before me, the undersigned Notary Public, personalty
appeared to Olivia McCumber (Business Owner), who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence
to be the persons whose names are subscribed within this Agreement.

Witness my hand and official seal:
" . Diana Sabina Dumitrescu DIANA SABINA DUMITRESCU
ﬁz::z zu:': 28 m;m = P Notary Public - State of Florida
ublic Sign i S, Scliang, Hlumiboe :
Commission Number: HH 426458 Com!nlslon # HH 426458
My Cemmission Expires: 07/26/2027 Expires on July 26, 2027

Notarized remotely online using communication technology via Proof.



Derek Cathcart —

Olivia Beaumont <oliviabeaumontart@gmail.com>

From:

Sent: Tuesday, January 14, 2025 1:53 PM

To: Derek Cathcart

Subject: Re: Home occupation permit UNRESOLVED
Hello!

Yes, | will abide by these terms. | will have to geta notarized authorization from the manager of the
apartment because attempts to contact the owner have been unsuccessful. Would you like the form

emailed to you, or dropped off at City Hall?

Best,
Olivia McCumber

On Jan 14, 2025, at 1:50 PM, Derek Cathcart <dcathcart@pembrokega.net> wrote:

Olivia, see below: (Do not fill out another application)

<image001.png>
Derek Cathcart
Community Development Director

PO Box 130

353 N Main Street
Pembroke, GA 31321
912-653-4413

From: Derek Cathcart

Sent: Friday, November 22, 2024 10:27 AM

To: Olivia Beaumont <oliviabeaumontart@gmail.com>
Subject: RE: Home occupation permit UNRESOLVED

Thank you. Please filt out the home occupation application: Application for Rezoning. Variance,
Home Qccupation or Conditional Use

Please provide a notarized authorization from the property owner allowing the home occupation.

Can you respond to the rules applying to home occupations:

For the purpose of identification of such use, one (1) non-illuminated wall sign not exceeding one
(1) square foot in area may be permitted. Such signs shall identify only the name of the profession
and the name of the occupant of the premises and shall be mounted against a wall of the principal

building.

No motor power other than electrically operated motors shall be used in conjunction with such
home occupation and the total horsepower of such permitted electrical motors shall not exceed
three (3) horsepower.



There shall be no alteration in the residential character of the premises in connection with such
home occupation unless so authorized by the city council.

No merchandise or articles for sale shall be displayed for advertising purposes and no sign or
device relative to the sale of such merchandise shall be displayed on the premises.

No article or materials used in connection with such home occupation shall be stored other than in
the principal building so used.

Thanks,

<image001.png>
Derek Cathcart
Community Development Manager

PO Box 130

353 N Main Street
Pembroke, GA 31321
912-653-4413

From: Olivia Beaumont <olivizbeaumontart@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, November 22, 2024 10:04 AM

To: Derek Cathcart <dcathcart@pembrokega.net>
Subject: Re: Home occupation permit UNRESOLVED

Online and also in Savannah at a cooperative.
Olivia

On Nov 22, 2024, at 8:38 AM, Derek Cathcart <dcathcari@pembrokega.net>
wrote:
How/ where do you sell your art?

Get Outlook for iOS

o o7

From: Olivia Beaumont <ohvuabeaumontart@gmanl com>
Sent: Thursday, November 21, 2024 7:28:39 PM

To: Derek Cathcart <dcathcart@pembrokega.net>
Subject: Home occupation permit UNRESOLVED

Sure!

Business description, including hours of operation.
| am a freelance artist/ illustrator. | use a home office exclusively for my art business.

dba Olivia Beaumont/ OliviaBeaumont.com
| have held home office permits in Bryan and Effingham County

2



Percentage of the residence occupied by the business (no work can take
place outside of the home/attached garage).
20%

Parking spaces available.
No parking spaces belong to the business, however Fairway Management provides

parking spaces per for the residents of the apartments.

Number of cars associated with the business.
(1) | have one vehicle that is for personal use and is partially used for the business.

Expected number of customers/day.
No customers

Number of employees and their residence/relation to homeowner (only one
employee allowed that s not family/does not live on premises)
No employees

Names & Addresses of all adjacent property owners, including across the

street.
Fairway Management owns all the property adjacent to the apartment.

Sincerely,
Olivia McCumber

On Nov 20, 2024, at 1:02 PM, Derek Cathcart
<dcathcart@pembrokega.net> wrote:

Can you answer the following information?

Business description, including hours of operation.
Percentage of the residence occupied by the business (no
work can take place outside of the home/attached garage).
Parking spaces available.

Number of cars associated with the business.

Expected number of customers/day.
Number of employees and their residence/relation to

homeowner {only one employee allowed that is not

family/does not live on premises)
Names & Addresses of all adjacent property owners, including

across the street.

From: Olivia Beaumont <oliviabeaumontart@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, November 20, 2024 12:52 PM

3



To: Derek Cathcart <dcathcart@pembrokega.net>
Subject: Fwd: *EXTERNAL*Re: *EXTERNAL*Fwd: Unresolved

Good afternoon, Derek,

It seems Bryan County will not let me renew my business
license despite another attempt. Please let me know what it

will take to obtain a variance request?

Sincerely,
Olivia McCumber

Begin forwarded message:

From: Dawn Monaco
<dmonaco®@bryancountyga.gov>

Date: November 20, 2024 at 12:31:13 PM EST
To: Olivia Beaumont
<oliviabeaumontart@gmail.com>

Subject: RE: *EXTERNAL*Re: *EXTERNAL*Fwd:
Unresolved

We only issue business licenses for locations
operating within the unincorporated Bryan
County. This address is in the city limits of
Pembroke so they would have to be the one to
issue the license.

Dawn Monaco
PLANNING TECHNICIAN
BRYAN COUNTY COMMUNITY

DEVELOPMENT
66 CAPTAIN MATTHEW FREEMAN DR

RICHMOND HILL, GEORGIA
912.756.7962

From: Olivia Beaumont
<oliviabeaumontart@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, November 20, 2024 11:54 AM

To: Dawn Monaco <dmonaco@bryancountyga.gov>
Subject: *EXTERNAL*Re: *EXTERNAL*Fwd: Unresolved

Previously located at 2799 Wilma Edwards Rd
Ellabell Ga 31308



I moved Sept 1st 2024 to
1001 Lumber Drive
Pembroke Ga 31321

| use a room of the apartment as a home office. |
work as an Artist/ Freelance [llustrator
Dba Olivia Beaumont since 2010

Thanks!
QOlivia McCumber

On Nov 18, 2024, at 4:01 PM,
Dawn Monaco
<dmonaco@bryancountyga.gov>
wrote:

Hey Olivia,

Where is the business located?
And what type of business is it?

Dawn Monaco

PLANNING TECHNICIAN
BRYAN COUNTY COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT

66 CAPTAIN MATTHEW
FREEMAN DR

RICHMOND HILL, GEORGIA
912.756.7962

From: Olivia Beaumont
<pliviabeaumontart@gmail.com>

Sent: Tuesday, November 19, 2024 3:47
PM

To: Dawn Monaco

<dmonaco@bryancountyga.gov>
Subject: *EXTERNAL*Fwd: Unresolved

Hello Ms. Monaco,

Is it possible to renew my business
license within Bryan County and
change it to a home occupational
permit? Please see the
advisement below from the



Pembroke Community
Development Manager.
thankyou,

Olivia McCumber

Begin forwarded message:

From: Derek

Cathcart
<dcathcart@pembr
okega.net>

Date: November 18,
2024 at 9:48:16 AM
EST

To: Olivia Beaumont
<pliviabeaumontart
@gmail.com>
Subject: RE:
Unresolved

Unfortunately, the
zoning ordinance
does not permit
home occupations
in the multifamily
zoning designation,
evenasa
conditional use. If
you can, lwould
recommend
renewing the Bryan
County Business
license. If that does
not work, | think we
can take forward a
variance request for
a home occupation
in an R-3. Renewing
with Bryan County is
the easier route if
possible.

Let me know what
you think.



This report is prepared by the City of Pembroke Department of Development staff to provide
information to the Pembroke Planning Commission for assistance in making an informed decision

on this matter.

Applicant: City of Pembroke

Request: Zoning Text Amendment: Article V, Sections 5-2, 5-3, & 5-4, to allow Day Care Centers
and Public Parks/Playgrounds as residential uses; and Article lll, Sections 3-4-1 (V)(b) & 3-31 to
correct contradicting language related to “Principal Buildings”

L MEETINGS:

Planning Commission: Public Hearing February 20, 2025
City Council: Public Hearing & First Reading March 10, 2025
City Council: Second Reading & Vote April 14, 2025

I EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

The City of Pembroke is proposing amendments to the city’s zoning ordinance to atlow Public
Parks/Playgrounds as a permitted use in the following zoning districts: R-1, R-2, R-3; to allow Day
Care Centers as a conditional use in the following zoning districts: R-1, R-2, R-3; to correct language

related to Principal Buildings.

The zoning ordinance as currently constructed does not permit public parks or childcare facilities in
residential districts except for agricultural districts. Childcare and public parks/green space are
common amenities and facilities that attract people to live and remain in communities. Upon
review of the zoning ordinances of the 2024 top 10 ranked cities for quality of life in the US, by US
News and World, all but one city permits parks or playgrounds in residential districts. 8 out ofthe 10
permit childcare facilities in all residential districts, while the other two limit the use to only certain
residential districts. The City of Pembroke should take every opportunity to include green space and
increase access to childcare to attract and retain young families as housing development grows in



the area. Upon review of neighboring municipalities - the majority permit parks/playgrounds, white
just over half permit childcare facilities in residential districts.

US News & World Report for 2024 cities with the highest quality of life rankings: Top 10
Anne Arbor: Child Care (P), Outdoor Recreation (E)

Boulder: Child Care (Use Review), Parks (P)

Madison: Child Care (C), Parks/Playgrounds (P)

San Jose: Child Care (S), Parks/Playgrounds (P)

Portland, Maine: Child Care (C), Parks (P)

Boston: Child Care (P), Parks (P)

Green Bay: Family Day Care (P), Day Care (P in r-3 only); Parks (P)

Hartford: Child Care (C), Parks (C)

Rochester: Child Care (S), Parks (S)

Trenton, NJ: Child Care (C) - not in all residential districts, family day cares are permitted in all
residential districts; Parks (NA)

Local Ordinances:

Savannah: Child Care (S), Parks (P)

Port Wentworth: Day Care Center (NA) Family Day Care (P) Preschool (P); Parks (P)
Hinesville: Child Care (S), Parks (P)

Richmond Hill: Child Care (C), Parks (P)

Brooklet: Child Care Special Use in R-2, R-3, not permitted in R-1; Public Recreation (S)
Rincon: Child Care (C) only in higher density Res; Parks (P)

Statesboro: Child Care (NA), Parks (P)

Springfield: Child Care (NA), Parks (P)

The amendments to Article 11, Sections 3-4-1 (V)(b) & 3-31 will clean up contradictory language
related to principal buildings on a lot. Currently there are no exemptions for multifamily buildings,
like the permitted Garden Style Apartments, and the two sections contradict each other in verbiage.




1. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

As a result, Staff recommends to approve the amendments to the Zoning Ordinance.

. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:

In accordance with Article X, Section 10-3 (a.), of the Pembroke Zoning Ordinance, the Planning
Commission recommends that City Council approve the request.



ORDINANCE NO.
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING:

SECTIONS 3-4-1 V. a) ii. b) and 3-31 OF ARTICLE IlI OF THE CITY OF PEMBROKE
ZONING ORDINANCE

AND

SECTIONS 5-2, 5-3 and 5-4 OF ARTICLE V OF THE CITY OF PEMBROKE ZONING
ORDINANCE

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 3-4-1 V. a) ii. b) of Article III of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning

Ordinances is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

b) Residential. Except in manufactured home parks, planned unit developments, group

of multifamily buildings, only one principal structure and its customary

housing projects, or groups
g site-built

accessory structures may hereafter be erected on any lot. Any dwelling, includin
dwellings, manufactured homes, mobile homes or modular homes, shall be deemed to be a

principal structure.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKGE that Section 3-31 of Article III of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances

is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Section 3-31 Principal Building on a Lot.

Except in Manufactured Housing Parks, planned unit developments, groups of multifamily
buildings, group housing projects, or commercial exceptions described in Article 3-4-1 (V)(a);
only one (1) principal building and its customary accessory buildings may hereafter be erected
on any lot of record. Any dwelling shall be deemed to be the principal building on the lot on
which the same is located. An addition to an accessory building shall not be construed as a
principal building.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 5-2 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances is
hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Sections 5-2
(1) Permitted Uses

(a) One family detached dwelling. Manufactured Homes or Modular
Homes must meet the requirements of Article 11, Section 3-19 of
this Zoning Ordinance. Amended 6-11-2012



(b) Unlighted, regulation-size or par three golf courses, including
normal club house and pro shop activities, and other business

activity associated with country clubs.

(© Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture, but not including the
keeping of poultry or animals, except as provided for in number
five (5) below.

(d) Playgrounds or Public Parks

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 5-3 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances is

hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Article V. Section 5-3.
1 Permitted Uses.
(@ All permitted uses in single family residential districts.

(b) Duplexes and two-family structures.

(© Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted
user.

(d) Playgrounds or Public Parks

(2) Conditional Uses. The following uses shall be permitted in this
Residential District on a conditional basis upon recommendation by the
Planning Commission and approval by the governing authority. The
governing authority may accept the recommendation of the Planning
Commission or may consider and grant approval of its own

recommendation.
€)) Manufactured housing upon approval by the local governing

authority. Manufactured Housing in “R-2” Districts is subject to
all the requirements of Section 3-19 of Article I of this Zoning

Ordinance. Amended 6-11-2012

(b) Home occupations upon approval by the local governing
authority.

(c) Public utilities substations or sub-installations, including water
towers, provided that: 1) such use is enclosed by a painted board
or chain-link fence or masonry wall, of at least six feet in height
above finished grade; 2) there is neither an office nor a
commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment or
materials on the premises; and 3) there is a landscaped strip not



less than five feet in width and six feet in height planted and
maintained around the facility. However, these requirements may
be waived for small substations within neighborhood areas at the
discretion of the Planning Commission.

(d) Churches, synagogues, temples, or other places of worship
provided that: 1) such use is housed in a permanent structure, and
2) no structure on the lot is closer than twenty-five (25) feet to

any abutting residential property line.

(e) Public and private school engaged in teaching general curriculum
for educational advancement, provided the structures are placed
not less than fifty (50) feet from any residential property line.

® Day Care Centers

AND BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY
OF PEMBROKE that Section 5-4 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances

is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Article V Section 5-4

(1) Permitted Uses

(a) Multiple family dwellings, including townhomes, apartments, condos,
rooming houses, fraternities, sororities, and dormitories;

(b) Two-family dwellings;
(¢) Nursing Home, retirement community;

(d) Playgrounds or Public Parks

(e) Churches, synagogues, temples, or other places of worship provided
that: 1) such use is housed in a permanent structure, and 2) no
structure on the lot is closer than twenty-five (25) feet to any
abutting residential property line; and

(f) Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted
uses.

(2)  Conditional Uses. The following uses shall be permitted in this
Residential District on a conditional basis upon recommendation by the
Planning Commission and approval by the governing authority. The
governing authority may accept the recommendation of the Planning




€))

Commission or may consider and grant approval of its own
recommendation.

(a) Day Care Center

(b) Home occupations upon approval by the local governing authority.

(c) Public utilities substations or sub-installations, including water towers,
provided that: 1) such use is enclosed by a painted board or chain-link
fence or masonry wall, of at least six feet in height above finished grade; 2)
there is neither an office nor a commercial operation nor storage of vehicles
or equipment or materials on the premises; and 3) there is a landscaped
strip not less than five feet in width and six feet in height planted and
maintained around the facility. However, these requirements may be
waived for small substations within neighborhood areas at the discretion of

the Planning Commission.

(d) Public and private school engaged in teaching general curriculum for
educational advancement, provided the structures are placed not less than

fifty (50) feet from any residential property line.
Lot and Building Requirements.

*Net acre shall be calculated as the total site acreage, less the area occupied by

wetlands. .

Principal Buildings - Garden Apartments

Living Units (with water & sewer) Max. 12 per *net acre thereof

Minimum Lot Width at Building Line 150 Feet
Minimum Front Yard 10 Feet
Minimum Rear Yard 15 Feet
Minimum Side Yard, Interior 15 Feet
Minimum Side Yard, Street 20 Feet
Maximum Building Height 60 Feet
Maximum Percent of Lot Coverage 40 Percent

Accessory Buildings Minimum Setback from Lot Line:

Rear 10 Feet
Side 3 Feet




Principal Building - Townhouses

Living Units (with water & sewer) Maximum 10 Per *Net Acre

Minimum Lot Area 1/2 acre

Minimum Lot Width at Building Line 25 Feet

Minimum Front Yard 10 Feet

Minimum Rear Yard 14 Feet

Minimum Side Yard None if Buildings are attached

40 Feet between groups of buildings

Maximum number of units having same building line 8 Units
Maximum building Height 35 Feet

Maximum Percent of Lot Coverage 75 Percent

ADOPTED THIS ___ DAY OF APRIL, 2025.

TIFFANY ZEIGLER, MAYOR
ATTEST:

ARLENE HOBBS, CLERK OF COUNCIL

FIRST READING: , 2025

SECOND READING: , 2025



Article Ill. Section 3-4-1

V. More than one principal structure per lot.

a) Commercial. More than one principal structure devoted to non-residential uses may be
situated on a lot, provided that:

i An unobstructed accessway at least 15 feet wide is maintained from a road to each
structure for use by service and emergency vehicles; and

ii. Each structure on the lot is separated from any other structure on the lot by at least four
feet.

b) Residential. Except in manufactured home parks, planned unit developments or
condominiums, only on principal structure and its customary accessory structures may hereafter
be erected on any lot. Any dwelling, including site-built dwellings, manufactured homes, mobile
homes or modular homes, shall be deemed to be a principal structure.

Any dwelling, including site-built
dwellings, manufactured homes, mobile homes or modular homes, shall be deemed to be a
principal structure.

Article lll

Section 3-31 Principal Building on a Lot.

Except in Manufactured Housing Parks and the group housing projects as provided in these
regulations, only one (1) principal building and its customary accessory buildings may hereafter be
erected on any lot of record. Any dwelling shall be deemed to be the principal building on the lot on
which the same is located. An addition to any building shall not be construed as a principal building

ArticleV

Sections 5-2

(1) Permitted Uses



@

(a)

(b)

(c)

One family detached dwelling. Manufactured Homes or Modular
Homes must meet the requirements of Article lll, Section 3-19 of
this Zoning Ordinance. Amended 6-11-2012

Unlighted, regulation-size or par three golf courses, including
normal club house and pro shop activities, and other business
activity associated with country clubs.

Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture, but not including the
keeping of poultry or animals, except as provided for in number five

(5) below.

Conditional Uses. The following uses shall be permitted in this Residential
District on a conditional basis upon recommendation by the Planning
Commission and approval by the governing authority. The governing
authority may accept the recommendation of the Planning Commission or
may consider and grant approval of its own recommendation.

(a)
(b)

()

(d)

Home occupations upon approval by the local governing authority.

Churches, synagogues, temples or other place of worship provided
that: 1) such use is housed in a permanent structure, and 2) no
structure on the lot is closer than twenty-five (25) feet to any
abutting residential property line.

Public and private school engaged in teaching general curriculum
for educational advancement, provided the structures are placed
not less than fifty (50) feet from any residential property line.

Public utilities substation or sub-installation including water
towers, provided that: 1) such use is enclosed by a painted or
chain-link fence or wall at least six (6) feet in height above finished
grade; 2) there is neither office nor commercial operation nor
storage of vehicles or equipment on the premises; and 3) a
landscaped strip, serving as a buffer, not less than five (5) feetin
width is planted and suitably maintained to screen the facility and
fence from view. However, the requirements for small substations



within neighborhood areas may be waived at the discretion of the
Planning Commission.

(e) Group Home

Article V. Section 5-3.
(1 Permitted Uses.

(a) All permitted uses in single family residential districts.

(b) Duplexes and two-family structures.

(©) Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted
user.

(2) Conditional Uses. The following uses shall be permitted in this Residential
District on a conditional basis upon recommendation by the Planning
Commission and approval by the governing authority. The governing
authority may accept the recommendation of the Planning Commission or
may consider and grant approval of its own recommendation.

(a) Manufactured housing upon approval by the local governing
authority. Manufactured Housing in “R-2” Districts is subject to all
the requirements of Section 3-19 of Article Il of this Zoning
Ordinance. Amended 6-11-2012

(b) Home occupations upon approval by the local governing authority.

(c) Public utilities substations or sub-installations, including water
towers, provided that: 1) such use is enclosed by a painted board or
chain-link fence or masonry wall, of at least six feet in height above
finished grade; 2) there is neither an office nor a commercial
operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment or materials on the
premises; and 3) there is a landscaped strip not less than five feetin
width and six feet in height planted and maintained around the
facility. However, these requirements may be waived for small
substations within neighborhood areas at the discretion of the
Planning Commission.



(d) Churches, synagogues, temples, or other places of worship
provided that: 1) such use is housed in a permanent structure, and
2) no structure on the lot is closer than twenty-five (25) feet to any

abutting residential property line.

(e) Public and private school engaged in teaching general curriculum
for educational advancement, provided the structures are placed
not less than fifty (50) feet from any residential property line.

Article V Section 5-4

(1) Permitted Uses amendea77e/24

(a) Multiple family dwellings, including townhomes, apartments, condos,
rooming houses, fraternities, sororities, and dormitories;

(b) Two-family dwellings;

(c) Nursing Home, retirement community;

. Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted uses.

(2) Conditional Uses. The following uses shall be permitted in this Residential
District on a conditionat basis upon recommendation by the Planning Commission
and approval by the governing authority. The governing authority may accept the
recommendation of the Planning Commission or may consider and grant approval

of its own recommendation.

FLOWeEs

€) Public ttililies s ations, including wat




Hlvm@(,u




This report is prepared by the City of Pembroke Department of Development staff to provide
information to the Pembroke Planning Commission for assistance in making an informed decision

on this matter.

Apptlicant: City of Pembroke

Request: Amendments to Article IV, Section 6.1, “Required Improvements”, and Article ViI,
Sections 7.1 & 7.2, “Design Standards” of the Subdivision Regulations

I EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

The City of Pembroke is proposing amendments to the subdivision regulations, specifically Section
6.1 “Required Improvements”, and Sections 7.1 & 7.2 “Design Standards”.

The amendments to section 6.1 clean up language related to new development standards and
include drainage standards previously adopted into the city’s zoning ordinance.

The amendments to sections 7.1 & 7.2 officially adopt GDOT standards for the city’s road design
standards. The amendments further update the city’s standards related to streets, road surface,
ROW, parking, stormwater, etc. The amendment will provide clarity to developers and make the
city’s standards uniform to the state’s standards, and easy to access.

. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

As a result, Staff recommends to approve the amendments to the Subdivision Regulations.

HI. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:

in accordance with Article X, Section 10-3 (a.), of the Pembroke Zoning Ordinance, the Planning
Commission recommends that City Council approve the request.



AN ORDINANCE AMENDING:

SECTION 6.1 OF ARTICLE VI OF THE CITY OF PEMBROKE SUBDIVISION
REGULATIONS

AND

SECTIONS 7.1 AND 7.2 OF ARTICLE VII OF THE CITY OF PEMBROKE SUBDIVISION

REGULATIONS

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 6.1 of Article VI of the City of Pembroke Subdivision Regulations is
hereby amended so that those portions of Section 6.1 through Subsection 6.1.8. read as follows:

ARTICLE VI. REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

The following list provides some of the improvements required for subdivision approval within
the City of Pembroke.

6.1

- Site grading for adequate drainage

- Street signs, traffic control striping and street lights
- Graded streets and paved surfacing

- Water distribution system; domestic and reuse

- Sidewalks, and street trees

- Curb and gutter

- Sanitary Sewage System

- Storm drainage system

- Underground utilities in a dedicated easement

Required Improvements
A well-designed subdivision means little to a prospective lot buyer until he or she can see

actual physical transformation of raw land into lots with all necessary improvements
provided. Likewise, a well-designed subdivision is not an asset to the community until
the necessary improvements have been installed. In order that prospective lot purchasers
may get useable products and new subdivisions may be an asset rather than a liability to
the community, the subdivider shall install and/or pay for the improvements required by
these regulations necessary to serve his subdivision prior to the approval of the Final Plat.

6.1.1. Natural Gas . If gas lines are to be located in a street right-of-way, such lines
shall be located outside the portion of the street to be surfaced to prevent having

to cut into the paved surface to serve abutting properties.

6.1.2. Water Supply. Water mains, valves and fire hydrants shall be installed according
to plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer and in accordance with



6.1.3.

6.1.4.

6.1.5.

6.1.6.

6.1.7.

the applicable rules and regulations of the County Health Department and the
Georgia Environmental Protection Division.

Sanitary Sewerage. Sanitary sewers shall be installed to the plans and
specifications approved by and in accordance with the applicable rules and

regulations of the County Health Department and the Georgia Environmental
Protection Division.

Sewage Disposal Systems. If City sewer is not available, prior to the construction
of any community sewerage disposal system such as private septic tanks, an
oxidation pond or other facility, the location, size, plans and specifications of such
a facility shall be approved by and be in accordance with the applicable rules and
regulations of the City of Pembroke along with the County Health Department
and the Georgia Environmental Protection Division.

Curbs and Gutters and Sidewalks. Curb and gutters are required, and they shall
be installed in accordance with plans and specifications approved by the City of
Pembroke. Sidewalks shall be installed on both sides of the street and shall meet

ADA requirements.

Street Grading and Surfacing. Street grading, base preparation and surfacing shall
be carried out by the subdivider according to plans and specifications approved by

the City of Pembroke. All traffic control signs, devices, and striping shall conform
to the Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) latest edition

Storm Drainage. An adequate drainage system, including necessary open ditches,
pipes, culverts, storm sewers, intersectional drains, drop inlets, bridges and other

necessary appurtenances shall be installed by the subdivider according to plans
and specifications approved by the City Engineer.

All developments that add greater than 5,000 sf of impervious areas shall adhere to the drainage
requirements herein. A single-family house on one lot is exempted from the requirements so long
as it is not part of a larger multi house development. Infill construction of a single house that
does not subdivide an existing lot is also exempted. In any case where a property is subdivided
into greater than one lot, detention or other best management practices must be provided to
ensure that the post-developed storm water runoff does not exceed the predeveloped condition.

1) Developments that exceed 5,000 sf of impervious area shall adhere to the
“Georgia Stormwater Management Manual Volume 2” minimum standard 1-4

and 6-11.

2) Pipes and Inlets shall be designed to convey the 25-year storm. Inlet capacity
shall be designed to accommodate the 25-year storm having a gutter spread of

not greater than seven feet.



3) The predeveloped curve number shall be based on existing conditions,
impervious area, and soil characteristics.

4) All infrastructure must be able to safely pass the 100-year storm event.

5) Developments that impact flood zones shall provide compensatory cuts and fill
or a no rise certification. In areas that impact Flood Zone A with no elevation,
a study must be performed and provided such that the base flood elevation is
available. A freeboard of 1° from BFE to finished floor must be provided on all

structures adjacent to or within a flood zone area.

6) No fill shall be allowed within the floodway.

6.1.8. Street Name Signs. Street Name Signs shall be installed at all intersections within
a subdivision. The location and design shall be approved by the Planning
Commission and City Council. All traffic control signs, devices, and striping shall
conform to the Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) latest

edition

AND BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY
OF PEMBROKE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE
CITY OF PEMBROKE that Sections 7.1 and 7.2 of Article VII of the City of Pembroke
Subdivision Regulations is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Section 3-31 Principal Building on a Lot.

Except in Manufactured Housing Parks, planned unit developments, groups of multifamily
buildings, group housing projects, or commercial exceptions described in Article 3-4-1 V)(a);
only one (1) principal building and its customary accessory buildings may hereafter be erected
on any lot of record. Any dwelling shall be deemed to be the principal building on the lot on
which the same is located. An addition to an accessory building shall not be construed as a
principal building.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 5-2 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances is

hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Sections 5-2

(1 Permitted Uses

(a) One family detached dwelling. Manufactured Homes or Modular
Homes must meet the requirements of Article ITI, Section 3-1 9 of

this Zoning Ordinance. Amended 6-11-2012



(b) Unlighted, regulation-size or par three golf courses, including
normal club house and pro shop activities, and other business
activity associated with country clubs.

(c) Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture, but not including the
keeping of poultry or animals, except as provided for in number

five (5) below.
(d)  Playgrounds or Public Parks

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 5-3 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances is

hereby amended so as to read as follows:

ARTICLE VII. DESIGN STANDARDS

The City of Pembroke has adopted the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) Design
Policy Manual and latest addendums thereto as the basis for the design, review and construction
of transportation facilities in the City of Pembroke. In addition, all other current design manuals
and/or policies issued by GDOT shall be utilized as required for specific transportation elements
not addressed in the GDOT Design Manual. Similarly, all construction related activities are
governed by the GDOT Construction Manual. The purpose of this addendum is to augment these
policies and guidelines set out in these documents with specific criteria related to the design and
construction of transportation facilities within the City of Pembroke. All land development
taking place in the City of Pembroke, at a minimum, shall reference and adhere to the design
guidelines and policies for guidance and design criteria, of the following documents and latest

addenda thereof:
e City of Pembroke Ordinances

«  GDOT Design Manual

«  GDOT Construction Manual

«  FHWA Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices

+  Highway Capacity Manual (HCM)

« ITE Trip Generation Manual

«  AASHTO Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets

The following design standards shall be considered minimum requirements in the platting of all

subdivisions:



7.1 Streets

7.1.1. Classification
New streets shall typically be classified by the number of vehicle trips per day measured as

average annual daily traffic (AADT) as follows:

e Arterials — greater than 2000 and/or as designated by the City of Pembroke.
Arterials include freeways, multilane highways, and other important roadways that
supplement the Interstate System. They connect, as directly as practicable, the Nation’s
principal urbanized areas, cities, and industrial centers. Land access is limited. Posted speed
limits on arterials usually range between 50 and 70 miles per hour.

e Collectors — 1000 to 2000 and/or as designated by the City of Pembroke.
Collectors are major and minor roads that connect local roads and streets with arterials.
Collectors provide less mobility than arterials at lower speeds and for shorter distances. They
balance mobility with land access. The posted speed limit on collectors is usually between 35
and 55 miles per hour.

e Local — less than 1000 and/or as designated by the City of Pembroke.
Local roads provide limited mobility and are the primary access to residential areas,
businesses, farms, and other local areas. Local roads, with posted speed limits usually

between 20 and 45 miles per hour, and are the majority of roads in the U.S.

In addition to the above, the City of Pembroke may also take into account and evaluate other
elements that may affect the street classification such as the street design, surrounding roadway
networks and connections thereto, adjacent land uses serviced by the road, etc.

71.2 Continuation of Adjoining Street System. The proposed street layout shall be
coordinated with the street system of the surrounding area. Where possible,

existing major streets shall be extended.

7.1.3. Access to Adjacent Properties. Where it is desirable to provide for street access to
adjoining property, proposed streets shall be extended by dedication to the

boundary of such property and a temporary turn-around shall be provided.

7.1.4. Street Names. Proposed streets, which are obviously in alignment with other
existing and named streets, shall bear the assigned names of the existing streets.
(It shall be unlawful for any person in laying out any new street or road to name
such street or road on any plat, by marking, or in any deed or instrument, without
first getting approval of the Planning Commission, the 911 Director and the City
Council.) In no case shall the name of the proposed streets duplicate or be
phonetically similar to existing street names irrespective of the use of suffix,
street, avenue, boulevard, drive, place, court, etc.



7.1.5.

7.1.6.

7.1.7.

Minor Streets. Minor streets shall be so laid out that their use by through traffic
will be discouraged.

Local Road Design

Minimum centerline pavement grade with curb and gutter shall be 0.50%
Maximum centerline pavement grade shall be 4.0%.

Minimum roadway cross slope shall be 2.00%

Maximum Road design speed - thirty (30) MPH

Minimum sight distance - two hundred (200) feet

Minimum centerline radius of curve - one hundred (100) feet

Pavement Sections. Minimum roadway section design shall be based on
road classification as follows, unless the Geotechnical Report recommends a more

substantial design:

e Arterial roads shall consist of eight (8) inches Graded Aggregate Base, two
(2) inches 19 mm Superpave, and two (2) inches 12.5 mm Superpave.

e Collector roads shall consist of eight (8) inches Graded Aggregate Base,
and two (2) inches 12.5 mm Superpave.

e Local roads shall consist of six (6) inches Graded Aggregate Base, and
two (2) inches 9.5 mm Superpave.

The minimum required separation from the pavement base material and seasonal
high-water table shall be two feet. Any deviations from this standard shall require
remediation via the installation of underdrain in accordance with Section 7.1.23.

. Roadway Sub-base. Roadway sub-base shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24)

inches of granular material compacted to ninety-eight percent (98%) modified
proctor density. Satisfactory laboratory and testing reports for all sub-base
materials shall be submitted for review and approval prior to proof rolling. Testing
locations shall occur at a rate of no greater than every 300 feet along the roadway
centerline, alternating lanes with each test location. All roads shall be proof rolled
and witnessed by a representative of the City of Pembroke prior to the rock base
material being placed. All unsuitable material shall be removed and replaced with



acceptable material and retested.

The roadway base shall be compacted to ninety-eight percent (98%) modified
proctor density. Satisfactory laboratory and testing reports for all base materials
shall be submitted for review and approval prior to proof rolling. Testing locations
shall occur at a rate of no greater than every 300 feet along the roadway centerline,
alternating lanes with each test location. All roads shall be proof rolled and
witnessed by a representative of the City of Pembroke prior to the installation of
asphalt. All unsuitable material shall be removed and replaced with acceptable

material and retested.

7.1.9. Curb and Gutter. Curb and gutter shall be constructed with Portland Cement
Concrete having a twenty-eight (28) day strength of three thousand five hundred
(3,500) psi. Slip form or machine curb and gutter shall have expansion material
minimum of one-half (%) inch thick with a maximum spacing of one hundred
(100) feet and abut a solid structure where one (1) day’s pour abuts a previous

day’s pour.
Construction joints shall be sawed or tooled at a maximum spacing of ten (10)

linear feet.

Residential curb and gutter shall have a minimum gutter thickness of six (6)

inches.

Industrial/commercial curb and gutter shall have a minimum gutter thickness of
eight (8) inches and shall be thicker as required by its location, soil conditions and

traffic load.

Where curb and gutter is a part of the Road design, the maximum linear gutter
line distance stormwater can traverse shall be three hundred (300) feet.

7.1.10. Sight Distance. No fence, wall, tree, terrace, building, sign, shrubbery, hedge,
other planting or structure or object capable of obstructing driver vision will be

allowed at intersections.

7 1.11. Clear Right-of-Way. Except as otherwise provided herein, it shall be required that
the right-of-way be cleared, all surface improvements removed from the right-of-
way, and all sub-surface improvements parallel to the pavement be re-located
from under the pavement. All areas disturbed during construction and shoulders
and slopes shall be seeded to obtain permanent vegetation for controlling erosion.




7.1.12.

7.1.13.

7.1.14.

7.1.15.

7.1.16.

7.1.17.

7.1.18.

7.1.19.

Roadside Parking. All Roads shall be considered to provide Road-side parking
unless plans clearly state that Road-side parking will be prohibited. Where Road-
side parking is prohibited, the Applicant shall provide for “No Parking” signage
as part of the design. Where Road-side parking is provided, a nine (9) foot wide
paved surface will be provided for each parking lane.

Horizontal Curves. On Collector Roads, the minimum centerline radius of
curvature shall not be less than three hundred fifty (350) feet. On Local Roads,
the minimum centerline radius of curvature shall not be less than one hundred

(100) feet.

Vertical Curves. All points of vertical inflection along the roadway centerline
with a total grade break of 1.5% or greater shall have a vertical curve inserted.

Reserved Strips Prohibited. A Road intended to be dedicated to the City shall not
be located so that a narrow buffer strip is maintained between the right-of-way of
such Road and adjacent property in such a manner as to deny access to another

adjacent property.

Access to Arterial Roads. No residential Road, driveway, or other access point
shall enter an Arterial Road at a point nearer than five hundred (500') feet from an

existing highway, Road, driveway, or other access point; except, where an
Existing Lot of Record would be rendered unusable by the strict application of

this provision.

Private access easements. Private access easements may be approved by the
Planning Commission for the subdivision and creation of only one lot fronting on
a public road. The private access easement providing access to one structure or
an unimproved road need not be paved or have curb and gutter. The proposed use
of an existing private access easement as the access to further subdivision and lot
creation will require a dedicated right-of-way with a minimum of sixty (60) feet.

Richt Angle Intersections. Street intersections shall be as nearly at right angles as

practicable.

Cul-de-sac. Maximum allowable length not to extend more than twelve hundred
(1200) feet in length and provided with a turn-around having a roadway diameter
of at least one hundred (100) feet and a right-of-way diameter of at least one
hundred and ten (110) feet. Temporary dead-end streets shall be provided with a

turn-around having a thirty (30) foot-radius.



7.1.20.

7.1.21.

7.1.22.

7.1.23.

Alleys. Service alleys or drives may be required in multiple dwelling,
commercial, and industrial developments and shall have a minimum surface
treatment width of fifteen (15) feet, but shall not be provided in one (1) and two
(2) family residential developments unless the subdivider provides evidence
satisfactory to the Planning Commission of the need for alleys.

Residential Subdivision. Except as otherwise provided herein, Roads within
Subdivisions shall have a standard minimum Road width of twenty-seven 27

feet back-to-back with curb and gutter.

When Roadside swales or ditches are permitted, the minimum Road width shall
be twenty-four (24) feet wide with a six and one-half (6.5) foot shoulder or
greater. Road width at fire hydrants shall conform to fire code requirements if
greater than minimum width required above. Where roadside parking is required,
the paved Road width will be increased nine (9) feet for each parking lane.

Phased Construction. All roads classified as collectors and arterials shall be
constructed in a two (2) phased approach which requires the installation of the
two (2) inch surface course to occur no earlier than at least seventy-five percent
(75%) of the lots accessing the road have been constructed, or three (3) years
from the time of acceptance of the roadway base section, whichever comes first.

Local roads may be constructed in their entirety.

Underdrains. In cases where the 2' seasonal high ground water separation to the
bottom of the road base cannot be met, remediation technique(s) including, but
not limited to, subgrade drains, may be submitted for consideration. The written
request shall be accompanied by a Geotechnical Report for the problematic areas
of the site along with a layout plan of the proposed development which indicates
the boring locations as referenced in the report. The Geotechnical Report shall
include recommendations for groundwater management on site based on specific
site soil conditions and characteristics. All areas which do not meet the 2° seasonal
high separation requirement shall be clearly identified on the plan along with the
depths to seasonal high groundwater from existing grade. The Engineer of
Record shall provide the remediation technique(s) including, but not limited to,
subgrade drains, to be considered to prevent the roadway subbase from being
permanently inundated with groundwater. The Engineer shall also provide all
site-specific supporting soil data, hydrological analysis, and engineering design

necessary to justify the request.

Construction plans shall include all necessary details associated with the
remediation technique(s). Should subgrade drains be incorporated into the design,



the pipe diameters shall be as required by the Geotechnical Engineers’
recommendation, but in no case less than six (6) inches in diameter. Subgrade
drain inverts shall not be less than the project’s static pond elevation or immediate
downstream outfalls. Minimum gradient for all subgrade drain pipes shall be

0.15%.

Proper construction techniques and installation in accordance with the approved
design is critical for the long-term functionality of the design, especially the
subgrade drains therefore, the final approval process shall include a certification
from the Design Engineer for the installation of all subgrade drains and any other
appurtenances associated with the approved remediation techniques. The
document shall certify that either the design engineer and/or his or her duly
anthorized representative have witnessed the satisfactory installation of all piping
and structures in conjunction with the approved remediation techniques. The
Certification shall be accompanied by approved shop drawings, material
certifications, daily inspection reports, photographs, and any other associated
documentation. Final Plat approval shall be provided only after all documentation
has been submitted and the City of Pembroke is satisfied that all improvements

have been installed in accordance with the approved design.

Use of road underdrain systems in conjunction with excessive or inordinate
cutting (excavation) of road grade is prohibited. Excavation for road construction
must be minimized to limit the magnitude of the underdrain system required.

The project’s professional geotechnical engineer, who must be licensed in
Georgia, shall provide the following design certification for all roads within the
development that propose to use subgrade drainage to lower the groundwater

level:
"This is to certify that the underdrain design for road(s), extending
om station to station , has been designed such that the se, aration
N . P

between the bottom of the roadway base and the artificially induced wet season
groundwater table is no less than two (2) feet for the entire width of pavement. "

Prior to acceptance of the roadway by the City of Pembroke, the project’s
professional geotechnical engineer shall certify, in writing, that the underdrain
system has been installed in accordance with approved plans and is functioning as

designed.

The project engineer must demonstrate through calculations and design
considerations that the project’s stormwater facilities shall be designed to
accommodate expected flow contributed by the underdrain system.



Use of underdrain systems are prohibited in areas designated as groundwater
recharge areas by the United States Geological Survey (USGS).

Underdrain systems may be permitted within a zone of influence of jurisdictional

wetlands only if it is demonstrated by the applicant, providing competent
substantial evidence and sound engineering techniques and data, that the use of an

underdrain system will not create negative impacts to wetlands.

No trees are permitted to be planted within the right-of-way or within twenty feet
(20" of an underdrain system without the installation of root guards.

A minimum of six-inch (6™) pipe is required for all underdrains.

Cleanouts must be installed at the upper end of each subgrade drainage pipe
branch, and intermediate riser cleanouts place at intervals of 100 linear feet, and
at sharp angles or directional changes greater than 10 degrees. Cleanout risers
shall be the small diameter as the subgrade drainage pipe.

Underdrains shall not significantly affect water table conditions on adjacent
property. The project’s professional geotechnical engineer or hydrologist must
demonstrate, utilizing sound and generally acceptable engineering practices and
scientifically reliable data, that lowering the seasonal high groundwater table will
not adversely impact adjacent properties or surface waters.

The City of Pembroke shall have the authority to require the developer to
implement specific measures deemed necessary to avoid or correct any adverse

impact of drainage facilities upon adjacent properties.

The planned use of underdrain systems to provide minimum separation between
the seasonal high groundwater table and the bottom of roadway base on
subdivisions proposed for development utilizing on-site sewage treatment systems
(i.e., septic tanks and absorption fields) shall be prohibited except under the

following circumstances:

a. Lots within the area proposed for underdrains shall be a minimum of one-half

(}2) acre.

b. The minimum distance between the roadway underdrain and the closest edge
of a drain field shall be not less than seventy-five (75) feet.

The use of limestone, recycled crushed concrete, or other alternative base material
for roadways using subgrade drainage systems to lower the groundwater table
shall be prohibited. Only granite graded aggregate base (GAB) shall be allowed.



7.1.24.

7.1.25.

(D
(a)

(b)

(©)

As part of the request to utilize subgrade drainage, the Project engineer must
provide design considerations demonstrating how the subgrade drainage system
will react during a 1.2-inch (85th percentile) storm event. If the roadway subbase
becomes inundated during these storm events, the project engineer must provide
calculations presenting the anticipated drawdown time required for the system to
return to norm, and the subgrade system to return groundwater levels to a
minimum of 2-ft below roadway base. This drawdown time shall not exceed 72-

hours.

Property Access.

(1) Permits for all driveways, curb cuts, utilities, and roadside culverts, that are
not part of a larger project with approved civil drawings, are required prior to the
start of construction.

(2) Installation of new driveways on curb and gutter roads must conform with the
driveway curb cut design criteria as applicable in Section 7.1.25. herein.

Curb-Cut Location and Design. Where the lowering or cutting away of curbs, or
the placement of driveway pipe and/or asphalt on non-curb sections is required for

the purpose of ingress and egress to a Lot or Subdivision, such work shall be
subject to the following provisions: The City of Pembroke may require
submission and review of an access plan. Access to each parcel in PUD
developments and commercial/ industrial properties shall be reviewed during

Construction Plan review.

Residential Curb Cuts:

No more than two (2) combined entrances and exits shall be allowed for any Lot,
having a frontage less than two hundred (200) feet on any one Local Road.
Additional entrances or exists for Lots having a frontage in excess of two hundred
(200) feet may be permitted at the rate of one (1) entrance/exit for each additional

one hundred (100) feet of frontage.

For Local Road intersections (corner Lots), no curb cuts shall be located within
twenty-five (25) feet of the intersection of two (2) curb lines or such lines
extended, or within fifteen (15) feet of the end of curb radius, whichever is more
restrictive. On Collector Roads, no driveway shall be within seventy (70) feet of
the intersection of two curb lines or curb lines extended or fifty-five (55) feet of
the intersection of the two (2) right-of-way lines, or within fifty (50) feet of the

end of curb radius.

The distance between any two curb cuts on the same side of the roads shall not be

less than ten (10") feet on Local Roads and twenty-five (25") feet on Collector
Roads. Said distance shall be measured between the points of tangency of the



curb return radii. Where the posted speed limit on any road is 50 MPH or greater,
the minimum distance shall be 350 feet or the greatest obtainable distance from

existing drives.

(d) The width of the driveway shall not exceed twenty (20) feet at the right-of-way
line and twenty four (24) feet at the edge of the pavement.

(e) Curb cuts for abandoned sites, or where access is obstructed due to parking lots,
buildings, or other permitted structures, the old driveway shall be removed, the
sidewalk (if existing) shall be replaced, the curb and gutter shall be replaced, fill
dirt backfilled to its natural state and grassed; where it is a piped drive to a dirt or
paved road, said pipe shall be removed, asphalt removed, and the shoulders and

ditch regraded to its previous state.

71.26. Commercial and Multi-Family Curb-Cuts. Commetcial and Multi-family curb
cuts shall be installed by the property owner in accordance with the approved

plans.

(a) No more than two (2) combined entrances and exits shall be allowed for any parcel
where the frontage is less than three hundred (300) feet on any one (1) Road. On parcels
with less than one hundred-fifty (150) feet of frontage, only one (1) combined entrance
and exit shall be allowed (two one-way driveways shall be allowed in lieu of the one two-
way). Additional entrances or exits for parcels of property having frontage in excess of
three hundred (300) feet may be permitted at the rate of one entrance/exit for each

additional one hundred-fifty (150) feet of frontage.

(b) For Local Road intersections (corner lots), no curb cuts shall be located within
twenty-five (25) feet of the intersection of two (2) curb lines or such lines extended, or
within fifteen (15) feet of the intersection of (2) two right-of-way lines or such lines
extended, or within fifteen &15) feet of the end of curb radius, whichever is more
restrictive. On Collector Roads, no driveway shall be within seventy (70) feet of the
intersection of two curb lines or curb line extended or fifty-five (55) feet of the
intersection of the two (2) right-of-way lines, or within fifty (50) feet of the end of curb

radius.

(c) The distance between any two (2) curb cuts on the same side of a Road shall be not
less than twenty-five (25) feet on Local Roads and twenty-five (25) feet on Collector
Roads. Said distance shall be measured between the points of tangency of the curb return

radii.



(d) All driveways shall be constructed so as to be at least twelve and one-half (12.5) feet
radius for multi-family and at least twenty-five (25) feet radius for commercial

development.

(e) Maximum width of any driveway shall not exceed thirty-five (35) feet measured at the
end of the radii, minimum of twelve and one-half (12.5) feet radius.

(f) Curb cuts for abandoned sites, or where access is obstructed due to parking lots,
buildings, or other permitted structures, the old driveway shall be removed, then sidewalk
(if existing) shall be replaced, the curb and gutter shall be replaced, fill dirt backfilled to
its natural state and grassed; where it is a piped driveway to a dirt or paved road, said
pipe shall be removed, asphalt removed and the shoulders and ditch regraded to its

previous state.

71.27. Traffic Control Plan. An Applicant shall furnish a traffic control plan for all
subdivisions involving public or private right-of-ways for review and approval.
This requirement applies to all subdivisions which increase the traffic count
and/or have an impact on traffic routing. Traffic counts shall be determined in
conformance with the most current edition of the Institute of Transportation

Engineer’s Trip Generation Manual (ITE Manual).

The traffic control plan shall indicate all traffic control/warning signs and devices
required for the safe and orderly flow of traffic. This plan shall include, but not
be limited to, signs such as: NO PARKING, STOP, DEAD END, SPEED LIMIT,
SLOW-CHILDREN PLAYING, YIELD PEDESTRIAN CROSSING, ROAD

NAME, and pavement striping.

An Applicant shall also be responsible for any changes or additions required in
the road from which access to the subdivision is authorized. The City of
Pembroke may require additional information and traffic engineering studies to
determine impact on the neighboring road system by the proposed subdivision.
The improvements to the neighboring road system that may be required include
turn lanes, passing lanes, acceleration lanes, deceleration lanes, by-pass lanes,

signs, pavement markings, etc.

All traffic control signs, devices, and striping shall conform to the Manual for
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) latest edition. All traffic control and
warning signs shall be of engineering grade highest available reflectorized
quality, made on extruded aluminum sign blanks and mounted on galvanized u-
channel posts. All incidental hardware for signage shall meet or exceed
specifications of the Georgia Department of Transportation.

All traffic control signage and pavement markings shall be in accordance with the
latest edition of the MUTCD. All pavement markings and striping shall be



thermoplastic with high reflectivity glass beads. Minimum striping width shall be
five (5) inches.

7.1.28. Utility Location. All new utility installations within the City of Pembroke ROW
shall be underground.

7.1.29. Tree Requirements Incorporated By Reference. (Amended 8-11-14)
The tree ordinance of the city, is incorporated by reference into the Subdivision
Regulations and made a part of this Article as though fully set out herein. A
current copy of the tree ordinance shall be maintained on file in the office of the

city clerk where it shall be made available for public inspection.

71.30. Railroads. Railroad rights-of-way where so located as to affect the subdivision of
adjoining lands shall be treated as follows:

a) In residential districts a buffer strip not less than 25 feet in depth in
addition to the normal depth of the lot required in the district shall be
provided adjacent to the railroad right-of-way. This strip shall be part of
the platted lots and shall be so designated on the plat: “This strip is
reserved for the planting of trees and shrubs by the owner. The placement

of structures hereon is prohibited.”

b) In districts zoned for business, commercial or industrial uses, the nearest
street extending parallel or approximately parallel to the railroad shall,
wherever practicable, be at a sufficient distance there from to ensure
suitable depth for commercial or industrial sites.

c) All other streets which are parallel to the railroad, when intersecting a
street which crosses the railroad grade, shall, to the extent practicable, be
at a distance of at least 150 feet from the railroad right-of-way. Such
distance shall be determined with due consideration of the minimum
distance required for future separation of grades by means of appropriate

approach gradients.

7.2  Easements
Easements having a minimum width of fifteen (15) feet and located along the

side, front, or rear lot lines shall be provided as required for utility lines and
underground mains and cables and shall be specified as such on the plat

dedication.



ADOPTED THIS __ DAY OF APRIL, 2025.

TIFFANY ZEIGLER, MAYOR
ATTEST:

ARLENE HOBBS, CLERK OF COUNCIL

FIRST READING: , 2025

SECOND READING: , 2025



CITY OF PEMBROKE ~ SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

ARTICLE VI. REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

The following list provides some of the improvements required for subdivision approval within
the City of Pembroke.

6.1

-Site grading for adequate drainage
-Street signs, IS CORIESESIE RS and street lights
-Graded streets g surtacing _
Community Wivater supphy-and distribution system§ SRIMESTRE IEense
-Streetsigns; Bsidewalks, Wil street trees

—Paved-streets-(l eurb and gutter i i

- Sewage System i€ soil-is-unable-to-suppert-therequired-number-of-on-site

-Storm drainage system
-Underground utilities in a dedicated easement

Regquired Improvements — (dmended on 11/10/2008)
A well-designed subdivision means little to a prospective lot buyer until he or she can see

actual physical transformation of raw land into lots with all necessary improvements
provided. Likewise, a well-designed subdivision is not an asset to the community until
the necessary improvements have been installed. In order that prospective lot purchasers
may get useable products and new subdivisions may be an asset rather than a liability to
the community, the subdivider shall install and/or pay for the improvements required by
these regulations necessary to serve his subdivision prior to the approval of the Final Plat.

6.1.1. Natural Gas [WIEEREEIE] When gas lines are located in a street right-of-
way, where possible, such lines shall be located outside the portion of the street to
be surfaced to prevent having to cut into the paved surface to serve abutting
properties.

6.1.2. Water SUQQI! ster-svstem-is-installed-in-a-subdivisien; iwater mains,
valves and fire hydrants shall be installed according to plans and specifications
approved by the City Engineer and in accordance with the rules and
administrative regulations of the County Health Department §
Environmental Protection Division, SNEHERSNSERRISaRE

6.1.3. Sanitary Sewerage. 1 a sanitary-sewer-is-installed-in-a-subdivisien; Bsanitary
sewers shall be installed to the plans and specifications approved by and in
accordance with the rules and administrativ County Health

Departtnent Wm : 1“'::': -‘:‘l I’.'.':" e | "\ L m"}"’.i".‘@.';‘- i h\ 7':.' O, WG« ‘.”" '

!aq 1 1-ﬂe "SIB: l ’. : — I.. I r ;. .ul

32
Updated 04/09




6.1.4.

CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

Sewage Disposal Systems. _, l!rior to the

construction of any community sewerage disposal system such as private septic
tanks, an oxidation pond or other facility, the location, size, plans and
specifications of such a faclhty shall be approved by and be in accordance with

.5. Curbs and Gutters

6.1.6.

: Curb
gutters are required, they shall be installed in accordance with plans and
specifications approved by the City Ceuneil

Street Grading and Surfacing. Street grading, base preparation and surfacing shall
be camed out by the subdmder accordmg to plans and specifications approved by

.7. Storm Drainage. An adequate drainage system, including necessary open ditches,

pipes, culverts, storm sewers, intersectional drains, drop inlets, bridges and other
necessary appurtenances shall be installed by the subdivider according to plans
and specifications approved by the City Engineer.

33

Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

& stlidy must be performed and providsd SUch that the base flood elevation is
avallable A freeboard af 1" frf BFE fo finished floor must be provided oral
structures adjacent to of Withinvaifiood zofie area

6.1.8. Street Name Signs. Street Name Signs shall be installed at all intersections within
a subdivision. The location and design shall be approved by the Planning

Commission and City Council .|#

6.1.9. Topsoil. Topsoil shall not be removed from residential lots or used as spoil, but
shall be redistributed so as to provide at least six (6) inches of cover on the lots
and at least four (4) inches of cover between sidewalks and curbs, and shall be
stabilized by seeding or planting. - i

v C

6.1.10 Sod — 4mended11/11/2008
Sod will be planted in the entirety of the front yard of every lot. The only area of

exception of sod will be for landscaping purposes or building structures such as
driveways, sidewalks, or light poles. The sod will extend from the rear edge of
the home to the sidewalk or street curb. Sod shall be of a grass suitable for the
City of Pembroke, Georgia, and will be approved by the City of Pembroke. Only
grasses that will survive in Pembroke’s climate will be used. The sod shall be
reasonably free of weeds, pests, and disease. Seed will be used to stabilize the
remaining parcel of land to the side and rear of the home, which will be approved
by the City of Pembroke. Said seed shall be of a type or mixture that will produce
adequate coverage within ninety (90) days from sowing. Irrigation of sod must
adhere to the guidelines in the City of Pembroke Outdoor Watering Ordinance.

6.1.11 Non-Potable Reuse Line (NPRL) — Amended 01/09 - a non-potable reuse
water main shall be installed in a subdivision that is or will be located within a one

mile radius of an existing or proposed reuse water distribution main. The system
shall include reuse water mains, valves, fittings, hydrants and shall be installed in
accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the City of Pembroke. The
system shall be designed and installed in accordance with the City of Pembroke Non-

Potable Water Reuse Design Guide.

34
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

ARTICLE VII. DESIGN STANDARDS

RILEeSsCa TS
S SER RIS e i T e ST

The following design standards shall be considered minimum requirements in the platting of all
subdivisions:

~J

1 Streets

7.1.1

Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

Houset front on
arterial steadt—
ateess from

margios! ascess steeet

{ are by
e

. &

L—=1 M2
L 1% 4
1—- :
| .

]

i

*
ey
yo—

t\‘-d
;
Aol ahreat

_'I .
|
)
25!
S

Ardarial o

Heyses front on
mingt 3i1este
peeass from
ninet KUEEL oaly

7.1.4. Street Names. Proposed streets, which are obviously in alignment with other
existing and named streets, shall bear the assigned names of the existing streets.
(It shall be unlawful for any person in laying out any new street or road to name
such street or road on any plat, by marking, or in any deed or instrument, without
first getting approval of the Planning Commission, the 911 Director and-the City
Council.) In no case shall the name of the proposed streets duplicate or be
phonetically similar to existing street names irrespective of the use of suffix,

street, avenue, boulevard, drive, place, court, etc.

7.1.5.
will be discouraged.

7.1.88.

Minor Streets. Minor streets shall be so laid out that their use by through traffic

Minimum centerline pavement grade with curh and gatter shall be (1.50%
44

Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

7.1.4307. Private access easements. Private access easements may be approved by the
Planning Commission for the subdivision and creation of only one lot fronting on
a public road. The private access easement providing access to one structure or
an unimproved road need not be paved or have curb and gutter. The proposed use
of an existing pnvate access easement as the access to further subdivision and lot
creation will require a dedicated right-of-way with a minimum of sixty (60) feet.

7.1.908. Right Angle Intersections. Street intersections shall be as nearly at right angles
as practicable.

7.1.3009. Cul-de-sac. A-minerstreet; not to extend more
than twelve hundred (1200) feet in length and provided with a turn-around having

a roadway diameter of at least e feet and a right-of-

way diameter of at least eﬂe-hamdfed-{-l-%) feet.
Temporary dead-end streets shall be prov1ded w1th a turn-around havmg a thmy

7.1.4380. Alleys. Service alleys or drives may be required in multlple dwelling,
commercial, and industrial developments and shall have a minimum surface
treatment width of fifteen (15) feet, but shall not be provided in one (1) and two
(2) family residential developments unless the subdivider provides evidence
satisfactory to the Planning Commission of the need for alleys.

47
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

The tree ordinance of the city, is incorporated by reference into the Subdivision
Regulations and made a part of this Article as though fully set out herein. A
current copy of the tree ordinance shall be maintained on file in the office of the
city clerk where it shall be made available for public inspection.

7.1.780. Railroads. Railroad rights-of-way where so located as to affect the subdivision
of adjoining lands shall be treated as follows:

a)

b)

In residential districts a buffer strip not less than 25 feet in depth in
addition to the normal depth of the lot required in the district shall be
provided adjacent to the railroad right-of-way. This strip shall be part of
the platted lots and shall be so designated on the plat: “This strip is
reserved for the planting of trees and shrubs by the owner. The placement

of structures hereon is prohibited.”

In districts zoned for business, commercial or industrial uses, the nearest
street extending parallel or approximately parallel to the railroad shall,
wherever practicable, be at a sufficient distance there from to ensure
suitable depth for commercial or industrial sites.

All other streets which are parallel to the railroad, when intersecting a
street which crosses the railroad grade, shall, to the extent practicable, be
at a distance of at least 150 feet from the railroad right-of-way. Such
distance shall be determined with due consideration of the minimum
distance required for future separation of grades by means of appropriate

approach gradients.

54
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

iy
2 43 o«
| %Y m ;
) A
- « bes
S o
. tas P LY
5,3
¢ Ls!u g )

ll.* (KT 1
. SR | b
R i) T4 s
B TS | 4 fruarsd
Lt | - [
g L
fet ° reet
i | R
Lodf g4 - po=
ML 3 e
1\-. o S5 g ot
%\, oy o mg
3 _IJ (4 fasd
1y L
-y q- 3 &a.d) L
WI - d'?ov\x
R AR Y . [ --.*
I\

.l
)

b 130 0

o
=
* N S

'
I
T
.
»
At

~

i3

rres
H

4L

o+
44543

PARKING BAY

atEv

$IX LOT ARRANGEMENT

«T STRELY

woor

Y J\.-o h At P;—.-u

LOOF WIHIN A GRID ARRANGEMENT
LOOP Wit GREEN

L

i

[ 2.1

[ ]

o
L

™ | —|||-

)
b ! Vo amafd

Updated 04/09

CUeL PE SAC

TEL INTERSLCTION
55

TERSLCTION

CROS

S




CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

4-lane B g4 8e' NAA AL
4-lane-with-serdcelanes 78 o0 NEA NIA
Aﬁerial—StFeet__ : {
4lane o 56 80! NfA NAA
A-lane-with-sepvicelane F4L 100° NfA NA
A-lare-with-Jeft-turnlane &2t 20 NA NiA
4-lane-with-left turndane-and-service 86 110 NIA N/A
lene

SHOULDER |
1 - Pavement Width Right-of-Way | Ditch | Sheulder
Local t
2-lane ot &0 32 LA
Gollector-or-Arterial

Updated 04/09




CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

7.2

7.3

7.1.16 Stree

Easements
Easements having a minimum width of thirty-(36) lilieen (15) feet and located

along the side or rear lot lines shall be provided as required for utility lines and
underground mains and cables and shall be specified as such on the plat

dedication.

Blocks
Block lengths and widths shall be as follows:

7.3.1 Lengths. Block street lengths shall not exceed eight hundred (800) feet nor be less
than three hundred (300) feet.

7.3.2. Widths. Blocks shall have sufficient widths to allow two tiers of lots of minimum
depth. Blocks may be one lot in depth where single-tier lots are required to

57
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

ARTICLE VI. REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

The following list provides some of the improvements required for subdivision approval within
the City of Pembroke.

- Site grading for adequate drainage
- Street sign:
- Graded streets

and street lights

- Underground utilities in a dedicated easement

6.1 Required Improvements — (4mended on 11/10/2008)
A well-designed subdivision means little to a prospective lot buyer until he or she can see

actual physical transformation of raw land into lots with all necessary improvements
provided. Likewise, a well-designed subdivision is not an asset to the community until
the necessary improvements have been installed. In order that prospective lot purchasers
may get useable products and new subdivisions may be an asset rather than a liability to
the community, the subdivider shall install and/or pay for the improvements required by
these regulations necessary to serve his subdivision prior to the approval of the Final Plat.

6.1.1.

shall be located outside the portion of the street to be surfaced to prevent having
to cut into the paved surface to serve abutting propetties.

6.1.2. Water Supply.

Sanitary Sewerage.

isposal Systems.

Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

Curbs and Gutters

6.1.6. Street Grading and Surfacing. Street grading, base preparation and surfacing shall
be carried out by the subdivider according to plans and specifications approved by

6.1.7. Storm Drainage. An adequate drainage system, including necessary open ditches,
pipes, culverts, storm sewers, intersectional drains, drop inlets, bridges and other
necessary appurtenances shall be installed by the subdivider according to plans

and specifications approved by the City Engineer.

" e
" e A NI,
s

36

Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

6.1.8. Street Name Signs. Street Name Signs shall be installed at all intersections within
a subdivision. The location and design shall be approved by the Planning
Commissioand City Council. il fraffic control signs. devices, and Sifiy

| . N 1 f | s o 1
yin o the Vianual ror Unilornmy |

6.1.9. Topsoil. Topsoil shall not be removed from residential lots or used as spoil, but
shall be redistributed so as to provide at least six (6) inches of cover on the lots
and at least four (4) inches of cover between sidewalks and curbs, and shall be

stabilized by seeding or planting]

6.1.10 Sod — 4mendedi1/11/2008
Sod will be planted in the entirety of the front yard of every lot. The only area of

exception of sod will be for landscaping purposes or building structures such as
driveways, sidewalks, or light poles. The sod will extend from the rear edge of
the home to the sidewalk or street curb. Sod shall be of a grass suitable for the
City of Pembroke, Georgia, and will be approved by the City of Pembroke. Only
grasses that will survive in Pembroke’s climate will be used. The sod shall be
reasonably free of weeds, pests, and disease. Seed will be used to stabilize the
remaining parcel of land to the side and rear of the home, which will be approved
by the City of Pembroke. Said seed shall be of a type or mixture that will produce
adequate coverage within ninety (90) days from sowing. Irrigation of sod must
adhere to the guidelines in the City of Pembroke Outdoor Watering Ordinance.

6.1.11 Non-Potable Reuse Line (NPRL) — dmended 01/09 - a non-potable reuse

water main shall be installed in a subdivision that is or will be located within a one
mile radius of an existing or proposed reuse water distribution main. The system
shall include reuse water mains, valves, fittings, hydrants and shall be installed in
accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the City of Pembroke. The
system shall be designed and installed in accordance with the City of Pembroke Non-

Potable Water Reuse Design Guide.
Non-Potable Reuse Water Lines Design and Installation Requirements

1) The design of the proposed NPRL system shall include a hydraulic model
that insures sufficient capacity and pressure at each point of delivery.
37
Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

ARTICLE VII. DESIGN STANDARDS

L TR
EETEARE LIS
shall be ttilzed as required 1ar Speotin . [ CIOTIETIES
Viantal SHpitariy, aki e aetion related aclivities gk

Sron vianual LS purpose 05 S adaeoU IS TOStEIc TLHIESE

LHESE UOCETINEHTS 11¢ : 2d 10 eSO Ele

(O EHICER

The following design standards shall be considered minimum requirements in the platting of all
subdivisions:

~

.1 Streets

ST LY CULIC

DFHICIPAE L UAEHLER

45
Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

AT as aestTnate by G P DTORE

;_mi’nﬂ‘& N Hne

7.1.2 Continuation of Adjoining Street System. The proposed street layout shall be
coordinated with the street system of the surrounding area. Where possible,

existing major streets shall be extended.

7.1.3. Access to Adiacent Properties. Where it is desirable to provide for street access
to adjoining property, proposed streets shall be extended by dedication to the

boundary of such property and a temporary turn-around shall be provided.

7.1.4. Street Names. Proposed streets, which are obviously in alignment with other
existing and named streets, shall bear the assigned names of the existing streets.
(It shall be unlawful for any person in laying out any new street or road to name
such street or road on any plat, by marking, or in any deed or instrument, without
first getting approval of the Planning Commission, the 911 Director and the City
Council.) In no case shall the name of the proposed streets duplicate or be
phonetically similar to existing street names irrespective of the use of suffix,
street, avenue, boulevard, drive, place, court, etc.

7.1.5. Minor Streets. Minor streets shall be so laid out that their use by through traffic
will be discouraged.

716, Liotal Road Design

46

Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

47

Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

48

Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

Private access easements. Private access easements may be approved by the
Planning Commission for the subdivision and creation of only one lot fronting on
a public road. The private access easement providing access to one structure or
an unimproved road need not be paved or have curb and gutter. The proposed use
of an existing private access easement as the access to further subdivision and lot
creation will require a dedicated right-of-way with a minimum of sixty (60) feet.

710

7.1 . Right Angle Intersections. Street intersections shall be as nearly at right angles as
practicable.

7.108. Cul-de-sac.

7.1 l Alleys. Service alleys or drives may be required in multiple dwelling,
commercial, and industrial developments and shall have a minimum surface
treatment width of fifteen (15) feet, but shall not be provided in one (1) and two
(2) family residential developments unless the subdivider provides evidence
satisfactory to the Planning Commission of the need for alleys.

49
Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE ~ SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

50
Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

51

Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE — SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

52
Error! Unknown document property hame.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

53

Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

R
e Tty oy i o i o e
R e I S e

54
Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

55

Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



CITY OF PEMBROKE - SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

7.1 . Tree Requirements Incorporated By Reference. (Amended 8-11-14)

The tree ordinance of the city, is incorporated by reference into the Subdivision
Regulations and made a part of this Article as though fully set out herein. A
current copy of the tree ordinance shall be maintained on file in the office of the
city clerk where it shall be made available for public inspection.

7.1.80. Railroads. Railroad rights-of-way where so located as to affect the subdivision of
adjoining lands shall be treated as follows:

a) In residential districts a buffer strip not less than 25 feet in depth in
addition to the normal depth of the lot required in the district shall be
provided adjacent to the railroad right-of-way. This strip shall be part of
the platted lots and shall be so designated on the plat: “This strip is
reserved for the planting of trees and shrubs by the owner. The placement
of structures hereon is prohibited.”

b) In districts zoned for business, commercial or industrial uses, the nearest
street extending parallel or approximately parallel to the railroad shall,
wherever practicable, be at a sufficient distance there from to ensure
suitable depth for commercial or industrial sites.

c) All other streets which are parallel to the railroad, when intersecting a
street which crosses the railroad grade, shall, to the extent practicable, be
at a distance of at least 150 feet from the railroad right-of-way. Such
distance shall be determined with due consideration of the minimum
distance required for future separation of grades by means of appropriate
approach gradients.

56
Error! Unknown document property name.
Updated 04/09



This report is prepared by the City of Pembroke Department of Development staff to provide
information to the Pembroke Planning Commission for assistance in making an informed decision

on this matter.

Applicant: Alex Long

Request: Final Plat: Phase 1 Sawgrass Subdivision

I EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

The applicant has applied for a final plat for 4 lots fronting on Waters Circle — the 4 lots meet all
design standards and the requirements of Section 4.3 Sketch lans & Prelimi Plat Not R

of the subdivision regulations. The applicant plans to build four houses concurrently with the
development of Sawgrass Subdivision. Drainage requirements adjacent to the 4 lots as part of the
larger subdivision plans must be satisfied prior to any CO’s issued. One item to note — Lot 13 meets
minimum lot requirements, as the lot width is 100’ at the building line.

il. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

As a result, Staff recommends to approve the final plat.

. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:

In accordance with Article X, Section 10-3 (a.), of the Pembroke Zoning Ordinance, the Planning
Commission recommends that City Council approve the request.



THIS BOX IS RESERVED FOR THE SUPERIOR
COURT CLERKS FILING INFORMATION

/
/
/
/
/ &
Q
J\/
§/
y o~
<
/o i
S
/ &8
5 /
S
;&R
;S5
&
5
O
/
\ /
~ _ /
& /
& Y
3 q N: 783373.02
i) E: 828742.53
y Ay
/ ~ o
/ \
/ ~



HOTHAL 1 ¢ ST
TG OLr N D -

g A e & LT WA G

SITE
FLEE . A s B m ﬁ\
; .. L0, m
Y =S T g
.~ ~ ll... l!._.l;!a __..ll_-u.-nlu. ._
/J
/

~

2N l e AT ma e H
" ; N nM
y I/\ B . P ae 4

e \NM

; G B Ny PROJECT DATA _ j
g . (- —_cermicaTE of penicATION ) i g
II{m 1w v kv om0 caee o " - S H m

e
R e IPORUACA L 8 i

LOCATION hap
AUS

& T, 1

S 7 %, — -

= LY oo, _ SURVEY NOTES 1 5
. ¥y Sty e — =

ﬁnaﬂﬁi Aﬁ.m ~ 4.t..a 1 ymom 2 Tl

Rl rinigtocylatibori by Sr ey i
TR ¥ % " 7 :
& ~o - 3 Pouin o Bpicingt. Hoautonkd Coriral, Vorfiodl Condl ey it )
~ & ~ o ey et T v harm 1% e Vo Sieral T |
M ¥ . otrotmme ot ans 5 SbA H 298 wia o0 #GRE 20T Gootetc CASE
N ' -, P s, PO iy (Pt fown» g FA) A
N 4 o iy ; aser B
~ . Qs T sty g g o] s TTK coreced
~ ¢ P sex i NN | L
N, L b yas 75 | |0 ot Gt Ol 4 Brye Coun. s
ﬁ& P o i
. - c = —
o, L CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL : it ho et
R : = - P e mensionsd, ] =
e - e i Aniiy =
/ AP b 1R, GY S PR B 1Al (PR, 1 e Fadarad Eeoarsaney Mac gy, WA
= b g, TICOCAI By o, Wy 3, 2004 Thedotumitns || 9
~ b aFOr i (e i b Dok Loyary Sphally fae Fonw |
/ - — —— TR ALNOY- " =4 5 m
-3 : Al by £V oo Barecr 1, 0 e= ] 8¢
~ 13 - agf O, il .‘ﬂ\] - . %
N ¥ Trmmers Cartfomiort £ caad @ huis TR B-0813) K013 amdt rekting 7 n ¥ £
// Vo urlmeiel pppen g ek vyt ) vy, 59 dofe 4 w mu; e
SEIAGLAT I 11 pal a8 g rurcbesston | 75 1 ﬂ M m
S § Ve et or Sty v mrprkates o beyiel - T wm_n &
S 15 Prazom s e oy n ag :m..,_ §
~ e op =l O S #
- od ey Vetra? =@k el H ..m
/./ iy gl ] 3
12, Almeriarits are L gwr the At ol a\T 8 APy Kool & kool o 3
\ e L NI
~ sl A e
/ -ty seryeam iy pesvatey m w
11 e boany b iradn Wk ek Korm ¢ Sy by EN. o ‘ sl
~ L 3 ‘ ilgy
A" UHE QPR PN ~ o 9 iz
WTINAL / Ltwme wm o
i Aty by '
em prorie of SOOI T et
=, e ™ thy Dectae &

St 217 L ke

it FLAGraTrs B Wt auid bl smrrmer ST el

Tt s ST e .0 o s Vlometel a1 Tof PpmItE )
s LR s 40 Turl 18 e gl IS EPLLE o UM t

a..i._r!.lx‘;ntxa_lvi.laln-vrzt.br.l
Aarverets inb asaet 1arh 8 LU A Ficnem 3treT.

a:ﬁ_av)i.w

et ¢ e
—

s
_ 0
€ =
wl|L @
Plat Copear 1 Z5REE. o) ﬂ I
Pk Brad v Fptonus [ . =
proter v gl ER m
Sadgrar st 2 amm 200 RabeSG T SRR Zn .
et I o -
porontir: =y owed m Ba m
Pkt ik Soneiaoon: )L als m W W
i$ S|=20
08T, % Wy D tARCMz s mine alt <2 M
/ S DAL P CRAMLPOWS TR YL RPOW w 8 Ex
DRV, PG 321 EL e/ 3 & M o w
0 3¢ =L s Vit . KT W PR 555 P 1A = nnow m
3 ‘ \__ TREDG Hgt.pga0s rueen  J1 G » .Na._ .h m
a
Q
i / 7 = 5388 3
3 ; . <{z*%
& ’ ¢ ~ G a
g / z
H / / r <
— = N (/2]
HN SURVEYORS CERTIFICATION .
M o ropuinsy oo oy of OCA A Sevire vl o it
2 2ot o imamen T et 4 oo by e G
g came W Wtiemns RO Sl ) 8
H Ak vy oty 3 ¢ o A 4 1 NS A T
w
3
R
i
H




This report is prepared by the City of Pembroke Department of Development staff to provide
information to the Pembroke Planning Commission for assistance in making an informed decision

on this matter.

Applicant: Forestar Real Estate Group

Request: King’s Hollow PUD Development Plan Approval

l. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Article V. Section 5-10 (10) requires Preliminary Plat & Construction Plans i.e. “Development Plans”
be approved by City Council before any building permits may be issued. The City’s staff has
completed review of the construction plans, and final approval is contingent on the last EPD
approval. The plans are brought forward to approve all three phases as one, while buildout will
happen in three phases. Building permits for each phase will not be issued until improvements are
completed, and the next phase will not begin until all improvements and necessary BMPS are

satisfied with the previous phase.

Full development plans are available online under the P&Z agenda page, and a hard copy set will be
available to review in person at City Hall.

I. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

As a result, Staff recommends to approve the Development Plans.

. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:

In accordance with Article X, Section 10-3 (a.), of the Pembroke Zoning Ordinance, the Planning
Commission recommends that City Council approve the request.



THIS BOX IS RESERVED FOR THE SUPERIOR
COURT CLERKS FILING INFORMATION

(
(" SITE SUMMARY: OPEN SPACE CALCULATIONS:
CURRENT ZONING: PUD OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS:
20% OF GROSS SITE ACREAGE:
SITE AREA: 124.04 ACRES 124.04 AC X 20% = 24.81 AC REQUIR
29.78 AC ALLOTT
IMPERVIOUS AREA: 36.91 ACRES (29.4%)
PERVIOUS AREA: 87.10 ACRES (70.6%) COMMUNITY RECREATION REQUIREMENT:
5% OF REQUIRED OPEN SPACE OR 1 ACRE(GRE:
OPEN SPACE: 20.78 ACRES (24.01%) OPTION)
24.81 AC X 5% = 1.24 AC REQUIR
TOTAL DISTURBED AREA: 81.8 ACRES 1.24 AC ALLOTT
OPEN SPACE PERMANENTLY UNDER GREEN SPACE
LOT SUMMARY: REQUIREMENT
30% OF REQUIRED OPEN SPACE
LOT COUNT PER PHASE: 24.81 AC X 30% = 7.44 AC REQUIR
PHASE 1 114 LOTS 7.44 AC ALLOTT
PHASE 2 92 LOTS
PHASE 3 66 LOTS AMOUNT OF WETLANDS COUNTED TOWARD OPEN S
50% OF REQUIRED OPEN SPACE
BUILDING SETBACK: 24.81 AC X 50% = 12.41 AC REQUIR
FRONT: 20 FT 12.41 AC ALLOTT
SIDE (INTERIOR): 5FT GENERAL OPEN SPACE
SIDE (STREET): 10FT 3.72 AC REQUIR
REAR: 20FT 8.96 AC ALLOTT
BUILDING SETBACK: PROPOSED LAND USES & DENSITIES:
MINIMUM LOT WIDTH: 40FT SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 272 UNITS
MINIMUM LOT DEPTH: 120 FT
MINIMUM LOT AREA: 5000 SQFT
BUILDING HEIGHT MAXIMUM: 40 FT (2 STORIES)
LANDSCAPE BUFFER:
FRONT (GA HIGHWAY 119): 50 FT
SIDE (SOUTHERN EDGE): 30FT
BACK (WESTERN EDGE): 30FT
=
\
\ \ N/F
\ CHARLOTTE KIA &
\ \ DEAN KING
\ PIN: 0151 079
\ \ NIE NR658. PG 6



ORDINANCE NO. QDS DX
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING:

SECTIONS 3-4-1 V. a) ii. b) and 3-31 OF ARTICLE III OF THE CITY OF PEMBROKE
ZONING ORDINANCE

AND

SECTIONS 5-2, 5-3 and 5-4 OF ARTICLE V OF THE CITY OF PEMBROKE ZONING
ORDINANCE

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 3-4-1 V. a) ii. b) of Article III of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning
Ordinances is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

b) Residential. Except in manufactured home parks, planned unit developments, group
housing projects, or groups of multifamily buildings, only one principal structure and its customary
accessory structures may hereafter be erected on any lot. Any dwelling, including site-built
dwellings, manufactured homes, mobile homes or modular homes, shall be deemed to be a

principal structure.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 3-31 of Article III of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances
is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Section 3-31 Principal Building on a Lot.

Except in Manufactured Housing Parks, planned unit developments, groups of multifamily
buildings, group housing projects, or commercial exceptions described in Article 3-4-1 (V)(a);
only one (1) principal building and its customary accessory buildings may hereafter be erected
on any lot of record. Any dwelling shall be deemed to be the principal building on the lot on
which the same is located. An addition to an accessory building shall not be construed as a

principal building.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 5-2 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances is
hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Sections 5-2
(1) Permitted Uses

(a) One family detached dwelling. Manufactured Homes or Modular
Homes must meet the requirements of Article I1I, Section 3-19 of
this Zoning Ordinance. Amended 6-11-2012



(b) Unlighted, regulation-size or par three golf courses, including
normal club house and pro shop activities, and other business
activity associated with country clubs.

(c) Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture, but not including the
keeping of poultry or animals, except as provided for in number
five (5) below.

(d) Playgrounds or Public Parks

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 5-3 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances is
hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Article V. Section 5-3.
(1) Permitted Uses.

(a) All permitted uses in single family residential districts.

(b) Duplexes and two-family structures.

(c) Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted
user.

(d) Playgrounds or Public Parks

(2) Conditional Uses. The following uses shall be permitted in this
Residential District on a conditional basis upon recommendation by the
Planning Commission and approval by the governing authority. The
governing authority may accept the recommendation of the Planning
Commission or may consider and grant approval of its own
recommendation.

(a) Manufactured housing upon approval by the local governing
authority. Manufactured Housing in “R-2” Districts is subject to
all the requirements of Section 3-19 of Article III of this Zoning

Ordinance. Amended 6-11-2012

(b) Home occupations upon approval by the local governing
authority.

(c) Public utilities substations or sub-installations, including water
towers, provided that: 1) such use is enclosed by a painted board
or chain-link fence or masonry wall, of at least six feet in height
above finished grade; 2) there is neither an office nor a
commercial operation nor storage of vehicles or equipment or
materials on the premises; and 3) there is a landscaped strip not



less than five feet in width and six feet in height planted and
maintained around the facility. However, these requirements may
be waived for small substations within neighborhood areas at the
discretion of the Planning Commission.

(d) Churches, synagogues, temples, or other places of worship
provided that: 1) such use is housed in a permanent structure, and
2) no structure on the lot is closer than twenty-five (25) feet to
any abutting residential property line.

(e) Public and private school engaged in teaching general curriculum
for educational advancement, provided the structures are placed
not less than fifty (50) feet from any residential property line.

® Day Care Centers

AND BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY
OF PEMBROKE that Section 5-4 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances
is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Article V Section 5-4
(1) Permitted Uses

(a) Multiple family dwellings, including townhomes, apartments, condos,
rooming houses, fraternities, sororities, and dormitories;

(b) Two-family dwellings;
(c) Nursing Home, retirement community;
(d) Playgrounds or Public Parks

(¢) Churches, synagogues, temples, or other places of worship provided
that: 1) such use is housed in a permanent structure, and 2) no
structure on the lot is closer than twenty-five (25) feet to any
abutting residential property line; and

(f) Customary accessory buildings incidental to the above permitted
uses.

(2)  Conditional Uses. The following uses shall be permitted in this
Residential District on a conditional basis upon recommendation by the
Planning Commission and approval by the governing authority. The
governing authority may accept the recommendation of the Planning




€)

Commission or may consider and grant approval of its own
recommendation.

(a) Day Care Center
(b) Home occupations upon approval by the local governing authority.

(c) Public utilities substations or sub-installations, including water towers,
provided that: 1) such use is enclosed by a painted board or chain-link
fence or masonry wall, of at least six feet in height above finished grade; 2)
there is neither an office nor a commercial operation nor storage of vehicles
or equipment or materials on the premises; and 3) there is a landscaped
strip not less than five feet in width and six feet in height planted and
maintained around the facility. However, these requirements may be
waived for small substations within neighborhood areas at the discretion of

the Planning Commission.

(d) Public and private school engaged in teaching general curriculum for
educational advancement, provided the structures are placed not less than

fifty (50) feet from any residential property line.

Lot and Building Reguirements.

*Net acre shall be calculated as the total site acreage, less the area occupied by
wetlands.

Principal Buildings - Garden Apartments

Living Units (with water & sewer) Max. 12 per *net acre thereof
Minimum Lot Width at Building Line 150 Feet

Minimum Front Yard 10 Feet

Minimum Rear Yard 15 Feet

Minimum Side Yard, Interior 15 Feet

Minimum Side Yard, Street 20 Feet

Maximum Building Height 60 Feet

Maximum Percent of Lot Coverage 40 Percent

Accessory Buildings Minimum Setback from Lot Line:

Rear 10 Feet
Side 3 Feet



Principal Building - Townhouses

Living Units (with water & sewer) Maximum 10 Per *Net Acre
Minimum Lot Area 1/2 acre
Minimum Lot Width at Building Line 25 Feet
Minimum Front Yard 10 Feet
Minimum Rear Yard 14 Feet
Minimum Side Yard None if Buildings are attached

40 Feet between groups of buildings
Maximum number of units having same building line 8 Units
Maximum building Height 35 Feet
Maximum Percent of Lot Coverage 75 Percent

ADOPTED THIS __ DAY OF APRIL, 2025.

TIFFANY ZEIGLER, MAYOR
ATTEST:

ARLENE HOBBS, CLERK OF COUNCIL

FIRST READING: , 2025

SECOND READING: , 2025



AN ORDINANCE AMENDING:

SECTION 6.1 OF ARTICLE VI OF THE CITY OF PEMBROKE SUBDIVISION
REGULATIONS

AND

SECTIONS 7.1 AND 7.2 OF ARTICLE VII OF THE CITY OF PEMBROKE SUBDIVISION

REGULATIONS

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 6.1 of Article VI of the City of Pembroke Subdivision Regulations is
hereby amended so that those portions of Section 6.1 through Subsection 6.1.8. read as follows:

ARTICLE VI. REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

The following list provides some of the improvements required for subdivision approval within
the City of Pembroke.

6.1

- Site grading for adequate drainage

- Street signs, traffic control striping and street lights
- Graded streets and paved surfacing

- Water distribution system; domestic and reuse

- Sidewalks, and street trees

- Curb and gutter

- Sanitary Sewage System

- Storm drainage system

- Underground utilities in a dedicated easement

Required Improvements
A well-designed subdivision means little to a prospective lot buyer until he or she can see

actual physical transformation of raw land into lots with all necessary improvements
provided. Likewise, a well-designed subdivision is not an asset to the community until
the necessary improvements have been installed. In order that prospective lot purchasers
may get useable products and new subdivisions may be an asset rather than a liability to
the community, the subdivider shall install and/or pay for the improvements required by
these regulations necessary to serve his subdivision prior to the approval of the Final Plat.

6.1.1. Natural Gas . If gas lines are to be located in a street right-of-way, such lines
shall be located outside the portion of the street to be surfaced to prevent having

to cut into the paved surface to serve abutting properties.

6.1.2. Water Supply. Water mains, valves and fire hydrants shall be installed according
to plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer and in accordance with



6.1.3.

6.14.

6.1.5.

6.1.6.

6.1.7.

the applicable rules and regulations of the County Health Department and the
Georgia Environmental Protection Division.

Sanitary Sewerage. Sanitary sewers shall be installed to the plans and
specifications approved by and in accordance with the applicable rules and
regulations of the County Health Department and the Georgia Environmental

Protection Division.

Sewage Disposal Systems. If City sewer is not available, prior to the construction
of any community sewerage disposal system such as private septic tanks, an
oxidation pond or other facility, the location, size, plans and specifications of such
a facility shall be approved by and be in accordance with the applicable rules and
regulations of the City of Pembroke along with the County Health Department
and the Georgia Environmental Protection Division.

Curbs and Gutters and Sidewalks. Curb and gutters are required, and they shall
be installed in accordance with plans and specifications approved by the City of
Pembroke. Sidewalks shall be installed on both sides of the street and shall meet

ADA requirements.

Street Grading and Surfacing. Street grading, base preparation and surfacing shall
be carried out by the subdivider according to plans and specifications approved by

the City of Pembroke. All traffic control signs, devices, and striping shall conform
to the Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) latest edition

Storm Drainage. An adequate drainage system, including necessary open ditches,
pipes, culverts, storm sewers, intersectional drains, drop inlets, bridges and other
necessary appurtenances shall be installed by the subdivider according to plans
and specifications approved by the City Engineer.

All developments that add greater than 5,000 sf of impervious areas shall adhere to the drainage
requirements herein. A single-family house on one lot is exempted from the requirements so long
as it is not part of a larger multi house development. Infill construction of a single house that
does not subdivide an existing lot is also exempted. In any case where a property is subdivided
into greater than one lot, detention or other best management practices must be provided to
ensure that the post-developed storm water runoff does not exceed the predeveloped condition.

1) Developments that exceed 5,000 sf of impervious area shall adhere to the
“Georgia Stormwater Management Manual Volume 2” minimum standard 1-4

and 6-11.

2) Pipes and Inlets shall be designed to convey the 25-year storm. Inlet capacity
shall be designed to accommodate the 25-year storm having a gutter spread of

not greater than seven feet.



3) The predeveloped curve number shall be based on existing conditions,
impervious area, and soil characteristics.

4) All infrastructure must be able to safely pass the 100-year storm event.

5) Developments that impact flood zones shall provide compensatory cuts and fill
or a no rise certification. In areas that impact Flood Zone A with no elevation,
a study must be performed and provided such that the base flood elevation is
available. A freeboard of 1° from BFE to finished floor must be provided on all
structures adjacent to or within a flood zone area.

6) No fill shall be allowed within the floodway.

6.1.8. Street Name Signs. Street Name Signs shall be installed at all intersections within
a subdivision. The location and design shall be approved by the Planning
Commission and City Council. All traffic control signs, devices, and striping shall
conform to the Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) latest

edition

AND BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY
OF PEMBROKE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE
CITY OF PEMBROKE that Sections 7.1 and 7.2 of Article VII of the City of Pembroke
Subdivision Regulations is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Section 3-31 Principal Building on a Lot.

Except in Manufactured Housing Parks, planned unit developments, groups of multifamily
buildings, group housing projects, or commercial exceptions described in Article 3-4-1 (V)(a);
only one (1) principal building and its customary accessory buildings may hereafter be erected
on any lot of record. Any dwelling shall be deemed to be the principal building on the lot on
which the same is located. An addition to an accessory building shall not be construed as a

principal building.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 5-2 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances is

hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Sections 5-2

(1)  Permitted Uses

(@) One family detached dwelling. Manufactured Homes or Modular
Homes must meet the requirements of Article III, Section 3-19 of
this Zoning Ordinance. Amended 6-11-2012



(b) Unlighted, regulation-size or par three golf courses, including
normal club house and pro shop activities, and other business
activity associated with country clubs.

(c) Non-commercial horticulture or agriculture, but not including the
keeping of poultry or animals, except as provided for in number
five (5) below.

(d) Playgrounds or Public Parks

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF
PEMBROKE that Section 5-3 of Article V of the City of Pembroke Code Zoning Ordinances is

hereby amended so as to read as follows:

ARTICLE VII. DESIGN STANDARDS

The City of Pembroke has adopted the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) Design
Policy Manual and latest addendums thereto as the basis for the design, review and construction
of transportation facilities in the City of Pembroke. In addition, all other current design manuals
and/or policies issued by GDOT shall be utilized as required for specific transportation elements
not addressed in the GDOT Design Manual. Similarly, all construction related activities are
governed by the GDOT Construction Manual. The purpose of this addendum is to augment these
policies and guidelines set out in these documents with specific criteria related to the design and
construction of transportation facilities within the City of Pembroke. All land development
taking place in the City of Pembroke, at a minimum, shall reference and adhere to the design
guidelines and policies for guidance and design criteria, of the following documents and latest

addenda thereof:

e City of Pembroke Ordinances

»  GDOT Design Manual

»  GDOT Construction Manual

«  FHWA Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices

«  Highway Capacity Manual (HCM)

« ITE Trip Generation Manual

«  AASHTO Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets

The following design standards shall be considered minimum requirements in the platting of all
subdivisions:



7.1 Streets

7.1.1. Classification
New streets shall typically be classified by the number of vehicle trips per day measured as

average annual daily traffic (AADT) as follows:

e Arterials — greater than 2000 and/or as designated by the City of Pembroke.
Arterials include freeways, multilane highways, and other important roadways that
supplement the Interstate System. They connect, as directly as practicable, the Nation’s
principal urbanized areas, cities, and industrial centers. Land access is limited. Posted speed
limits on arterials usually range between 50 and 70 miles per hour.

e Collectors — 1000 to 2000 and/or as designated by the City of Pembroke.
Collectors are major and minor roads that connect local roads and streets with arterials.
Collectors provide less mobility than arterials at lower speeds and for shorter distances. They
balance mobility with land access. The posted speed limit on collectors is usually between 35
and 55 miles per hour.

e Local — less than 1000 and/or as designated by the City of Pembroke.
Local roads provide limited mobility and are the primary access to residential areas,
businesses, farms, and other local areas. Local roads, with posted speed limits usually
between 20 and 45 miles per hour, and are the majority of roads in the U.S.

In addition to the above, the City of Pembroke may also take into account and evaluate other
elements that may affect the street classification such as the street design, surrounding roadway
networks and connections thereto, adjacent land uses serviced by the road, etc.

71.2 Continuation of Adjoining Street System. The proposed street layout shall be
coordinated with the street system of the surrounding area. Where possible,
existing major streets shall be extended.

7.1.3. Access to Adjacent Properties. Where it is desirable to provide for street access to
adjoining property, proposed streets shall be extended by dedication to the
boundary of such property and a temporary turn-around shall be provided.

7.1.4. Street Names. Proposed streets, which are obviously in alignment with other
existing and named streets, shall bear the assigned names of the existing streets.
(It shall be unlawful for any person in laying out any new street or road to name
such street or road on any plat, by marking, or in any deed or instrument, without
first getting approval of the Planning Commission, the 911 Director and the City
Council.) In no case shall the name of the proposed streets duplicate or be
phonetically similar to existing street names irrespective of the use of suffix,
street, avenue, boulevard, drive, place, court, etc.



7.1.5.

7.1.6.

Minor Streets. Minor streets shall be so laid out that their use by through traffic
will be discouraged.

Local Road Design

Minimum centerline pavement grade with curb and gutter shall be 0.50%
Maximum centerline pavement grade shall be 4.0%.

Minimum roadway cross slope shall be 2.00%

Maximum Road design speed - thirty (30) MPH

Minimum sight distance - two hundred (200) feet

Minimum centerline radius of curve - one hundred (100) feet

. Pavement Sections. Minimum roadway section design shall be based on

road classification as follows, unless the Geotechnical Report recommends a more
substantial design:

e Arterial roads shall consist of eight (8) inches Graded Aggregate Base, two
(2) inches 19 mm Superpave, and two (2) inches 12.5 mm Superpave.

e Collector roads shall consist of eight (8) inches Graded Aggregate Base,
and two (2) inches 12.5 mm Superpave.

e Local roads shall consist of six (6) inches Graded Aggregate Base, and
two (2) inches 9.5 mm Superpave.

The minimum required separation from the pavement base material and seasonal
high-water table shall be two feet. Any deviations from this standard shall require
remediation via the installation of underdrain in accordance with Section 7.1.23.

. Roadway Sub-base. Roadway sub-base shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24)

inches of granular material compacted to ninety-eight percent (98%) modified
proctor density. Satisfactory laboratory and testing reports for all sub-base
materials shall be submitted for review and approval prior to proof rolling. Testing
locations shall occur at a rate of no greater than every 300 feet along the roadway
centerline, alternating lanes with each test location. All roads shall be proof rolled
and witnessed by a representative of the City of Pembroke prior to the rock base
material being placed. All unsuitable material shall be removed and replaced with



acceptable material and retested.

The roadway base shall be compacted to ninety-eight percent (98%) modified
proctor density. Satisfactory laboratory and testing reports for all base materials
shall be submitted for review and approval prior to proof rolling. Testing locations
shall occur at a rate of no greater than every 300 feet along the roadway centerline,
alternating lanes with each test location. All roads shall be proof rolled and
witnessed by a representative of the City of Pembroke prior to the installation of
asphalt. All unsuitable material shall be removed and replaced with acceptable

material and retested.

7.1.9. Curb and Gutter. Curb and gutter shall be constructed with Portland Cement

Concrete having a twenty-eight (28) day strength of three thousand five hundred
(3,500) psi. Slip form or machine curb and gutter shall have expansion material
minimum of one-half (%) inch thick with a maximum spacing of one hundred
(100) feet and abut a solid structure where one (1) day’s pour abuts a previous

day’s pour.
Construction joints shall be sawed or tooled at a maximum spacing of ten (10)

linear feet.

Residential curb and gutter shall have a minimum gutter thickness of six (6)
inches.

Industrial/commercial curb and gutter shall have a minimum gutter thickness of
eight (8) inches and shall be thicker as required by its location, soil conditions and

traffic load.

Where curb and gutter is a part of the Road design, the maximum linear gutter
line distance stormwater can traverse shall be three hundred (300) feet.

7.1.10. Sight Distance. No fence, wall, tree, terrace, building, sign, shrubbery, hedge,

7.1.11.

other planting or structure or object capable of obstructing driver vision will be
allowed at intersections.

Clear Right-of-Way. Except as otherwise provided herein, it shall be required that
the right-of-way be cleared, all surface improvements removed from the right-of-
way, and all sub-surface improvements parallel to the pavement be re-located
from under the pavement. All areas disturbed during construction and shoulders
and slopes shall be seeded to obtain permanent vegetation for controlling erosion.




7.1.12. Roadside Parking. All Roads shall be considered to provide Road-side parking
unless plans clearly state that Road-side parking will be prohibited. Where Road-
side parking is prohibited, the Applicant shall provide for “No Parking” signage
as part of the design. Where Road-side parking is provided, a nine (9) foot wide
paved surface will be provided for each parking lane.

7.1.13. Horizontal Curves. On Collector Roads, the minimum centerline radius of
curvature shall not be less than three hundred fifty (350) feet. On Local Roads,
the minimum centerline radius of curvature shall not be less than one hundred

(100) feet.

7.1.14. Vertical Curves. All points of vertical inflection along the roadway centerline
with a total grade break of 1.5% or greater shall have a vertical curve inserted.

7.1.15. Reserved Strips Prohibited. A Road intended to be dedicated to the City shall not
be located so that a narrow buffer strip is maintained between the right-of-way of
such Road and adjacent property in such a manner as to deny access to another

adjacent property.

7.1.16. Access to Arterial Roads. No residential Road, driveway, or other access point
shall enter an Arterial Road at a point nearer than five hundred (500") feet from an
existing highway, Road, driveway, or other access point; except, where an
Existing Lot of Record would be rendered unusable by the strict application of

this provision.

7.1.17. Private access easements. Private access easements may be approved by the
Planning Commission for the subdivision and creation of only one lot fronting on
a public road. The private access easement providing access to one structure or
an unimproved road need not be paved or have curb and gutter. The proposed use
of an existing private access easement as the access to further subdivision and lot
creation will require a dedicated right-of-way with a minimum of sixty (60) feet.

7.1.18. Right Angle Intersections. Street intersections shall be as nearly at right angles as
practicable.

7.1.19. Cul-de-sac. Maximum allowable length not to extend more than twelve hundred
(1200) feet in length and provided with a turn-around having a roadway diameter
of at least one hundred (100) feet and a right-of-way diameter of at least one
hundred and ten (110) feet. Temporary dead-end streets shall be provided with a
turn-around having a thirty (30) foot-radius.



7.1.20.

7.1.21.

7.1.22.

7.1.23.

Alleys. Service alleys or drives may be required in multiple dwelling,
commercial, and industrial developments and shall have a minimum surface
treatment width of fifteen (15) feet, but shall not be provided in one (1) and two
(2) family residential developments unless the subdivider provides evidence
satisfactory to the Planning Commission of the need for alleys.

Residential Subdivision. Except as otherwise provided herein, Roads within
Subdivisions shall have a standard minimum Road width of twenty-seven (27)
feet back-to-back with curb and gutter.

When Roadside swales or ditches are permitted, the minimum Road width shall
be twenty-four (24) feet wide with a six and one-half (6.5) foot shoulder or
greater. Road width at fire hydrants shall conform to fire code requirements if
greater than minimum width required above. Where roadside parking is required,
the paved Road width will be increased nine (9) feet for each parking lane.

Phased Construction. All roads classified as collectors and arterials shall be
constructed in a two (2) phased approach which requires the installation of the
two (2) inch surface course to occur no earlier than at least seventy-five percent
(75%) of the lots accessing the road have been constructed, or three (3) years
from the time of acceptance of the roadway base section, whichever comes first.
Local roads may be constructed in their entirety.

Underdrains. In cases where the 2' seasonal high ground water separation to the
bottom of the road base cannot be met, remediation technique(s) including, but
not limited to, subgrade drains, may be submitted for consideration. The written
request shall be accompanied by a Geotechnical Report for the problematic areas
of the site along with a layout plan of the proposed development which indicates
the boring locations as referenced in the report. The Geotechnical Report shall
include recommendations for groundwater management on site based on specific
site soil conditions and characteristics. All areas which do not meet the 2' seasonal
high separation requirement shall be clearly identified on the plan along with the
depths to seasonal high groundwater from existing grade. The Engineer of
Record shall provide the remediation technique(s) including, but not limited to,
subgrade drains, to be considered to prevent the roadway subbase from being
permanently inundated with groundwater. The Engineer shall also provide all
site-specific supporting soil data, hydrological analysis, and engineering design
necessary to justify the request.

Construction plans shall include all necessary details associated with the
remediation technique(s). Should subgrade drains be incorporated into the design,



the pipe diameters shall be as required by the Geotechnical Engineers’
recommendation, but in no case less than six (6) inches in diameter. Subgrade
drain inverts shall not be less than the project’s static pond elevation or immediate
downstream outfalls. Minimum gradient for all subgrade drain pipes shall be

0.15%.

Proper construction techniques and installation in accordance with the approved
design is critical for the long-term functionality of the design, especially the
subgrade drains therefore, the final approval process shall include a certification
from the Design Engineer for the installation of all subgrade drains and any other
appurtenances associated with the approved remediation techniques. The
document shall certify that either the design engineer and/or his or her duly
authorized representative have witnessed the satisfactory installation of all piping
and structures in conjunction with the approved remediation techniques. The
Certification shall be accompanied by approved shop drawings, material
certifications, daily inspection reports, photographs, and any other associated
documentation. Final Plat approval shall be provided only after all documentation
has been submitted and the City of Pembroke is satisfied that all improvements
have been installed in accordance with the approved design.

Use of road underdrain systems in conjunction with excessive or inordinate
cutting (excavation) of road grade is prohibited. Excavation for road construction
must be minimized to limit the magnitude of the underdrain system required.

The project’s professional geotechnical engineer, who must be licensed in
Georgia, shall provide the following design certification for all roads within the
development that propose to use subgrade drainage to lower the groundwater

level:

"This is to certify that the underdrain design for ~_road(s), extending
from station to station , has been designed such that the separation
between the bottom of the roadway base and the artificially induced wet season
groundwater table is no less than two (2) feet for the entire width of pavement."

Prior to acceptance of the roadway by the City of Pembroke, the project’s
professional geotechnical engineer shall certify, in writing, that the underdrain
system has been installed in accordance with approved plans and is functioning as

designed.

The project engineer must demonstrate through calculations and design
considerations that the project’s stormwater facilities shall be designed to
accommodate expected flow contributed by the underdrain system.



Use of underdrain systems are prohibited in areas designated as groundwater
recharge areas by the United States Geological Survey (USGS).

Underdrain systems may be permitted within a zone of influence of jurisdictional
wetlands only if it is demonstrated by the applicant, providing competent
substantial evidence and sound engineering techniques and data, that the use of an
underdrain system will not create negative impacts to wetlands.

No trees are permitted to be planted within the right-of-way or within twenty feet
(20" of an underdrain system without the installation of root guards.

A minimum of six-inch (6”) pipe is required for all underdrains.

Cleanouts must be installed at the upper end of each subgrade drainage pipe
branch, and intermediate riser cleanouts place at intervals of 100 linear feet, and
at sharp angles or directional changes greater than 10 degrees. Cleanout risers
shall be the small diameter as the subgrade drainage pipe.

Underdrains shall not significantly affect water table conditions on adjacent
property. The project’s professional geotechnical engineer or hydrologist must
demonstrate, utilizing sound and generally acceptable engineering practices and
scientifically reliable data, that lowering the seasonal high groundwater table will

not adversely impact adjacent properties or surface waters.

The City of Pembroke shall have the authority to require the developer to
implement specific measures deemed necessary to avoid or correct any adverse

impact of drainage facilities upon adjacent properties.

The planned use of underdrain systems to provide minimum separation between
the seasonal high groundwater table and the bottom of roadway base on
subdivisions proposed for development utilizing on-site sewage treatment systems
(i.e., septic tanks and absorption fields) shall be prohibited except under the
following circumstances:

a. Lots within the area proposed for underdrains shall be a minimum of one-half
(%%) acre.

b. The minimum distance between the roadway underdrain and the closest edge
of a drain field shall be not less than seventy-five (75) feet.

The use of limestone, recycled crushed concrete, or other alternative base material
for roadways using subgrade drainage systems to lower the groundwater table
shall be prohibited. Only granite graded aggregate base (GAB) shall be allowed.



7.1.24.

7.1.25.

(1
(a)

(b)

(©)

As part of the request to utilize subgrade drainage, the Project engineer must
provide design considerations demonstrating how the subgrade drainage system
will react during a 1.2-inch (85th percentile) storm event. If the roadway subbase
becomes inundated during these storm events, the project engineer must provide
calculations presenting the anticipated drawdown time required for the system to
return to norm, and the subgrade system to return groundwater levels to a
minimum of 2-ft below roadway base. This drawdown time shall not exceed 72-

hours.

Property Access.
(1) Permits for all driveways, curb cuts, utilities, and roadside culverts, that are

not part of a larger project with approved civil drawings, are required prior to the

start of construction.
(2) Installation of new driveways on curb and gutter roads must conform with the

driveway curb cut design criteria as applicable in Section 7.1.25. herein.

Curb-Cut Location and Design. Where the lowering or cutting away of curbs, or
the placement of driveway pipe and/or asphalt on non-curb sections is required for
the purpose of ingress and egress to a Lot or Subdivision, such work shall be
subject to the following provisions: The City of Pembroke may require
submission and review of an access plan. Access to each parcel in PUD
developments and commercial/ industrial properties shall be reviewed during
Construction Plan review.

Residential Curb Cuts:

No more than two (2) combined entrances and exits shall be allowed for any Lot,
having a frontage less than two hundred (200) feet on any one Local Road.
Additional entrances or exists for Lots having a frontage in excess of two hundred
(200) feet may be permitted at the rate of one (1) entrance/exit for each additional

one hundred (100) feet of frontage.

For Local Road intersections (corner Lots), no curb cuts shall be located within
twenty-five (25) feet of the intersection of two (2) curb lines or such lines
extended, or within fifteen (15) feet of the end of curb radius, whichever is more
restrictive. On Collector Roads, no driveway shall be within seventy (70) feet of
the intersection of two curb lines or curb lines extended or fifty-five (55) feet of
the intersection of the two (2) right-of-way lines, or within fifty (50) feet of the
end of curb radius.

The distance between any two curb cuts on the same side of the roads shall not be
less than ten (10') feet on Local Roads and twenty-five (25") feet on Collector
Roads. Said distance shall be measured between the points of tangency of the



curb return radii. Where the posted speed limit on any road is 50 MPH or greater,
the minimum distance shall be 350 feet or the greatest obtainable distance from

existing drives.

(d) The width of the driveway shall not exceed twenty (20) feet at the right-of-way
line and twenty four (24) feet at the edge of the pavement.

(¢) Curb cuts for abandoned sites, or where access is obstructed due to parking lots,
buildings, or other permitted structures, the old driveway shall be removed, the
sidewalk (if existing) shall be replaced, the curb and gutter shall be replaced, fill
dirt backfilled to its natural state and grassed; where it is a piped drive to a dirt or
paved road, said pipe shall be removed, asphalt removed, and the shoulders and

ditch regraded to its previous state.

7.1.26. Commercial and Multi-Family Curb-Cuts. Commercial and Multi-family curb
cuts shall be installed by the property owner in accordance with the approved

plans.

(a) No more than two (2) combined entrances and exits shall be allowed for any parcel
where the frontage is less than three hundred (300) feet on any one (1) Road. On parcels
with less than one hundred-fifty (150) feet of frontage, only one (1) combined entrance
and exit shall be allowed (two one-way driveways shall be allowed in lieu of the one two-
way). Additional entrances or exits for parcels of property having frontage in excess of
three hundred (300) feet may be permitted at the rate of one entrance/exit for each

additional one hundred-fifty (150) feet of frontage.

(b) For Local Road intersections (corner lots), no curb cuts shall be located within
twenty-five (25) feet of the intersection of two (2) curb lines or such lines extended, or
within fifteen (15) feet of the intersection of (2) two right-of-way lines or such lines
extended, or within fifteen &15) feet of the end of curb radius, whichever is more
restrictive. On Collector Roads, no driveway shall be within seventy (70) feet of the
intersection of two curb lines or curb line extended or fifty-five (55) feet of the
intersection of the two (2) right-of-way lines, or within fifty (50) feet of the end of curb

radius.
(¢) The distance between any two (2) curb cuts on the same side of a Road shall be not

less than twenty-five (25) feet on Local Roads and twenty-five (25) feet on Collector
Roads. Said distance shall be measured between the points of tangency of the curb return

radii.



(d) All driveways shall be constructed so as to be at least twelve and one-half (12.5) feet
radius for multi-family and at least twenty-five (25) feet radius for commercial

development.

(e) Maximum width of any driveway shall not exceed thirty-five (35) feet measured at the
end of the radii, minimum of twelve and one-half (12.5) feet radius.

(f) Curb cuts for abandoned sites, or where access is obstructed due to parking lots,
buildings, or other permitted structures, the old driveway shall be removed, then sidewalk
(if existing) shall be replaced, the curb and gutter shall be replaced, fill dirt backfilled to
its natural state and grassed; where it is a piped driveway to a dirt or paved road, said
pipe shall be removed, asphalt removed and the shoulders and ditch regraded to its

previous state.

7.1.27. Traffic Control Plan. An Applicant shall furnish a traffic control plan for all
subdivisions involving public or private right-of-ways for review and approval.
This requirement applies to all subdivisions which increase the traffic count
and/or have an impact on traffic routing. Traffic counts shall be determined in
conformance with the most current edition of the Institute of Transportation
Engineer’s Trip Generation Manual (ITE Manual).

The traffic control plan shall indicate all traffic control/warning signs and devices
required for the safe and orderly flow of traffic. This plan shall include, but not
be limited to, signs such as: NO PARKING, STOP, DEAD END, SPEED LIMIT,
SLOW-CHILDREN PLAYING, YIELD PEDESTRIAN CROSSING, ROAD

NAME, and pavement striping.

An Applicant shall also be responsible for any changes or additions required in
the road from which access to the subdivision is authorized. The City of
Pembroke may require additional information and traffic engineering studies to
determine impact on the neighboring road system by the proposed subdivision.
The improvements to the neighboring road system that may be required include
turn lanes, passing lanes, acceleration lanes, deceleration lanes, by-pass lanes,

signs, pavement markings, etc.

All traffic control signs, devices, and striping shall conform to the Manual for
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) latest edition. All traffic control and
warning signs shall be of engineering grade highest available reflectorized
quality, made on extruded aluminum sign blanks and mounted on galvanized u-
channel posts. All incidental hardware for signage shall meet or exceed
specifications of the Georgia Department of Transportation.

All traffic control signage and pavement markings shall be in accordance with the
latest edition of the MUTCD. All pavement markings and striping shall be



thermoplastic with high reflectivity glass beads. Minimum striping width shall be
five (5) inches.

7.1.28. Utility Location. All new utility installations within the City of Pembroke ROW
shall be underground.

7.1.29. Tree Requirements Incorporated By Reference. (Amended 8-11-14)
The tree ordinance of the city, is incorporated by reference into the Subdivision
Regulations and made a part of this Article as though fully set out herein. A
current copy of the tree ordinance shall be maintained on file in the office of the
city clerk where it shall be made available for public inspection.

7.1.30. Railroads. Railroad rights-of-way where so located as to affect the subdivision of
adjoining lands shall be treated as follows:

a) In residential districts a buffer strip not less than 25 feet in depth in
addition to the normal depth of the lot required in the district shall be
provided adjacent to the railroad right-of-way. This strip shall be part of
the platted lots and shall be so designated on the plat: “This strip is
reserved for the planting of trees and shrubs by the owner. The placement
of structures hereon is prohibited.”

b) In districts zoned for business, commercial or industrial uses, the nearest
street extending parallel or approximately parallel to the railroad shall,
wherever practicable, be at a sufficient distance there from to ensure
suitable depth for commercial or industrial sites.

c) All other streets which are parallel to the railroad, when intersecting a
street which crosses the railroad grade, shall, to the extent practicable, be
at a distance of at least 150 feet from the railroad right-of-way. Such
distance shall be determined with due consideration of the minimum
distance required for future separation of grades by means of appropriate
approach gradients.

7.2  Easements
Easements having a minimum width of fifteen (15) feet and located along the

side, front, or rear lot lines shall be provided as required for utility lines and
underground mains and cables and shall be specified as such on the plat

dedication.



ADOPTED THIS ___ DAY OF APRIL, 2025.

TIFFANY ZEIGLER, MAYOR
ATTEST:

ARLENE HOBBS, CLERK OF COUNCIL

FIRST READING: , 2025

SECOND READING: , 2025



ORDINANCE NO. QDAS-0O\

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ARTICLE 1, SECTION 4 OF CHAPTER 28 OF THE CODE
OF ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF PEMBROKE, GEORGIA

WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Pembroke,
Georgia, is authorized under Article 9, Section 2 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia

to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and

welfare of the citizens of Pembroke, Georgia,

WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Pembroke,

Georgia, is the Mayor and City Council thereof;

WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its home

rule powers established in 0.C.G.A. § 36-35-3(a);

WHEREAS, the governing authority has determined that the Noise Ordinance is

in need of revision and clarification; and

WHEREAS, the City of Pembroke desires to amend Article 1, Section 4 of Chapter

28 of the Code of Ordinances;

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the governing authority of the City of

Pembroke as follows:

SECTION 1
Chapter 28, Article 1, Section 4, of the Code of Ordinances for the City of Pembroke
is hereby amended and shall read as follows:

Section 28-4 Noise

(@)  General prohibition. The creating of any unreasonably loud or disturbing noise

within the limits of the city is prohibited. Any sound that is plainly audible at a distance



of 200 feet or more from its emanating source, except as may be excluded herein, is
deemed an unreasonable loud or disturbing noise.  “Plainly audible” means any
sound that can be detected by a person using his or. her unaided hearing faculties and
shall include bass reverberations for music. Further, any noise of such character,
intensity or duration as to be unreasonably detrimental to the life or health of reasonable
persons, or that unreasonably disturbs the public peace and welfare, is prohibited.

(b)  Specific acts declared in violation. The following acts, among others, are declared
to be unreasonably loud and disturbing noises in violation of this section, but this
enumeration shall not be deemed to be exclusive, namely:

(1)  Horns. The sounding of any horn or signal device on any automobile, motorcycle,
bus, or other vehicle, while not in motion except as a danger signal if another vehicle is
approaching apparently out of control, or, if in motion, only as a danger signal; the
creation by means of any such signal device of any unreasonably loud or harsh sound or
the sounding of that device for an unreasonable period of time.

(2) Musical instruments. The playing of any radio, phonograph, or any musical
instrument in such an unreasonable manner or plainly audible with such unreasonable
volume during the hours between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. as to unreasonably disturb
the quiet, comfort, or repose of persons in any office, hospital, or in any dwelling, hotel,
or other type of residence, or any persons in the vicinity, except this subsection shall not
apply to schools of music between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m.

(3) Voices. Yelling, shouting, hooting, whistling, or singing on the public streets
between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., or at any time or place as to unreasonably

disturb the quiet, comfort or repose of persons in any hospital, dwelling, hotel or other

type of residence, or any persons in the vicinity.



(4) Noisy vehicles. The use of any automobile, motorcycle or vehicle so out of repair,
so loaded or in any manner as to create unreasonably loud grating, grinding or rattling,
or other noise.

(5) Steam whistles. The blowing of any steam whistle attached to any stationary boiler,
except to give notice of the time to begin or stop work, or as a warning of fire or danger,
or upon request of proper city authority.

(6) Exhausts. To discharge into the open air the exhaust of any stationary steam
engine, stationary internal combustion engine, motor vehicle or motorboat engine, except
through a muffler or other device which will effectively prevent loud or explosive noises
therefrom.

(7)  Construction work. The erection (including excavation), demolition, alteration or
repair of any building in any residential district or section, the excavation of streets and
highways in any residential district or section, other than between the hours of 7:00 a.m.
and 6:00 p.m. on weekdays, except in cases of urgent necessity, and then only with a
permit from the city, which permit may be granted for a period not to exceed 60 days
while the emergency continues.

(8) On streets of institutions requiring quiet. The creation of any unreasonably
excessive noise on any street adjacent to any school, institution of learning, church or
court while same are in session, or adjacent to any hospital, which unreasonably interferes
with the workings or sessions thereof.

(9) Loudspeakers on vehicles. The use of mechanical loudspeakers or amplifiers on

trucks or other moving or standing vehicles for advertising or other purposes.



(10) Animals, birds. The keeping of any animal or bird which shall disturb the comfort
or repose of any persons in the vicinity by making unreasonably long, continual or

frequent noise.

(¢)  Exceptions. None of the foregoing terms or prohibitions shall apply to or be
enforced against:

(1)  Any vehicle of the city while engaged in necessary public business;

(2)  Excavations or repairs of bridges, streets or highways, by or on behalf of the city,
county or state during the night season, when the public welfare and convenience renders
it impossible to perform that work during the day, nor shall same apply to work performed
by public utility companies under like conditions and circumstances, or when there is

urgent necessity therefor; and

(3)  The reasonable use of amplifiers or loudspeakers in the course of public addresses
which are noncommercial in character.

(d) Parades, celebrations, festivals or performances exempt. The prohibitions shall not
be applicable to any parade, celebration, festival or performance for which a written
permit has been obtained prior thereto from the clerk.

() Sporting events which may include bands, loudspeaker announcements and
cheering.

€3] Loudspeakers, sound trucks and amplifiers unlawful. It shall be unlawful to use,
maintain or operate loudspeakers, sound trucks, amplifiers or other mechanical or
electrical devices for increasing the volume of sound upon the streets, sidewalks, parks or
other public places of the city, provided that nothing in this section shall apply to the

United States of America, the state, the county, the city, or to public agencies.



SECTION I1

If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid or
unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no way
effect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance. It is hereby declared as the
intent of the City of Pembroke Mayor and Council that this ordinance would have been
adopted had such invalid or unconstitutional portion not been included herein.

SECTION I11

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed.
SECTION IV
It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the
provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code of
Ordinances, City of Pembroke, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be
renumbered to accomplish such intention.

ADOPTED THIS __ DAY OF MARCH, 2025.

TIFFANY ZEIGLER, MAYOR
ATTEST:

ARLENE HOBBS, CLERK OF COUNCIL

FIRST READING: February 10, 2025
SECOND READING: March 10, 2025



